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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

To all shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (“the Board”) of Xin Yuan
Enterprises Group Limited (“the Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) for year ended 31 December 2018, representing
the first annual report since its listing.

2018 was a remarkable year in which the Group reached an
important milestone with Company’s shares being successfully
listed on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 26 September 2018. The Group's reputation was
enhanced, our financial position was strengthened, and we can
implement our business plans more smoothly. | would like to
take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all
professional parties and the Group’s management for their joint
efforts contributing to the Company’s successful listing.

Since the Group has been established, the highest priority has
been to provide the best services to our customers. The
business of the Group has a great success under opportunities
and challenges during the year ended 31 December 2018. We
delivered a revenue growth of approximately 26.7%, and our
net profit increased by 10.0%. In this fruitful year, our fleet was
strengthen by building three new vessels, and currently ten
vessels are in operation with total capacity of 92,000 dwt.

Facing the challenging future in 2019 and onwards, we are not
satisfied with our constant success of quality asphalt tanker
chartering business in the past, and will continue to expand the
size of our fleet, strengthen our marketing effort and seek new
asphalt related business opportunity. | am very confident about
the Group's future development and expect further growth in
the future.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHE

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest
appreciation to all our shareholders, business partners and
customers for their invaluable support, as well as to our
management team and staff for their dedication and
commitment throughout this challenging year.

Chairman
Ding Xiaoli
Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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Four-Year Financial Summary

O B 15 i =

A summary of the results, and of the assets, liabilities and non- 88 AR BIE FIBEBXTBHEHREND
controlling interest of the Group for the last four financial years, 2B Z 2894 & B8 = M E K FE
as extracted from the published audited financial statements or B EEE AN EE - B & & IEFEARRE RSBt

published prospectus of the Company is set out below. (N
RESULTS ES
Year ended 31 December HE12ANBILEEFE
2015 2016 2017 2018
2015%F 2016 F 2017 F 2018 F

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000
TET FET TR FERr

Revenue Wz 10,760 15,457 33,727 42,716
Cost of sales S AR (6,357) (9,043) (20,458) (28,225)
Gross profit EA 4,403 6,414 13,269 14,491
Other income EH il A 250 666 332 8,222
Administrative expenses ITHFAY (642) (783) (2,095) (3,864)
Other operating H fth &8 5 2
expenses - (162) (350) (7,110)
Exchange gains/(losses),net [& 54 Uz, (E518) 558 14 299 (1,543) 343
Profit from operations Ry e e | 4,025 6,434 9,613 12,082
Finance costs R DN (649) (1,912) (3,581) (5,469)
Profit before tax PR EL B A 3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613
Income tax expense FrigtiFA < = < - -
Profit for the year HA 3% ) 3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613
Attributable to: UT&IEREG
Owners of the Company KNARIER A 3,377 4,390 5,489 6,613
Non-controlling R
interests (1) 132 543 -
3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613
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Four-Year Financial Summary

O B 15 i =

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE BERFERES
INTERESTS

As at 31 December »12A31H
2015 2016 2017 2018
20154 20164 2017 € 2018 &

US$000 US$:000 US$'000  US$'000
TET T TR FTERT

Total assets BEMAE 70,250 110,733 164,033 211,014

Total liabilities B1EL5 (51,177) (96,932) (89,598) (111,910)

Non-controlling interests ~ FEIZAR#E L (59) 431 - =
19,014 13,370 74,435 99,104

The shares of the Company were initially listed on the Main  AAFRIRMNDEBEXEBBBEISMERA
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. No &l F R £ &iZE2014F 12 A31 BILF

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 & ARQR)WEFEAREBE NI ERE ©
December 2014 have been published.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Xin Yuan Enterprises
Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the
audited consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018, together with the comparative figures for the
corresponding year in 2017 (“years under review"). The
information should be read in conjunction with the prospectus
of the Company dated 11 September 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Our Group principally provides asphalt tanker chartering
services under various types of charter agreement comprising: (i)
time charters; and (ii) voyage charters and contracts of
Affreightment (“CoAs"). During the year ended 31 December
2018, our Group was expanding our fleet that three new vessels,
namely Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella were delivered and put
into operation. Currently we operate a fleet of ten vessels with
total capacity of 92,000 dwt, in which six vessels are operated
under time charters, the remaining four vessels are operated
under voyage charters or CoAs.

We endeavour to provide high quality asphalt tanker chartering
services. We have our own team of engineers and we are
actively involved in the design of our vessels. Our team works
closely with ship design experts, our customers, shipyards, an
international classification society and banks or finance lease
companies. We formulate customised shipbuilding plans to
build new vessels that suit our customers’ requirements such as
fuel consumption efficiency and carrying capacity. Our Directors
believe that by implementing the customisation, we could raise
our service standards and competitiveness.

Our major customers include global shipping and logistics
groups, global independent energy traders, and the publicly
traded energy companies based in the United States. Our
Group has diversified its customer segments and gradually
engaged new customers to reduce our reliance over our largest
customer. As a result of our Group's efforts to engage new
customers, the number of customers has been on an increase
trend in the past few years, and has increased to thirteen
customers for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN W R D

2018 has also been an exceptional year for our Group as it has
achieved new breakthroughs. On 26 September 2018, the
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
(“Listing”) on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), making its debut in
capital market. On the same day, our Company also issued a
total of 100,000,000 Shares by way of global offering at a price
of HK$1.50 each upon Listing (the “Global Offering”).

With our Group’s experienced management team and
competitive strengths, our Directors believe that our Group is
well-positioned to further develop our presence in the asphalt
tanker chartering services market and capture new business
opportunities. Our competitive strengths include (i) our fleet of
vessels is relatively new and fit for purpose to meet customers’
needs; (ii) stable cash inflow from long-term contracts with
customers; (iii) established stable relationships with our
customers and shipyards; and (iv) our focus on high standard of
maintenance of our fleet to offer quality and safe asphalt tanker
chartering services.

After the last new vessel, Lotstella, was delivered in November
2018, we have not engaged any new shipbuilding plan at this
moment. As all our vessels continued to achieve high utilisation
in 2018, we will continue expanding our fleet to support the
continued growth of our services demand. We plan to build two
new vessels with a carrying capacity of approximately 21,000
dwt each in 2019, and expected to be handed over starting in
2020, so that our fleet will increase to 12 vessels. In the
meanwhile, we had obtained letter of intent from an existing
customer for the first new vessel, and also obtained a written
confirmation from the existing customer to indicate their
interest in the second new vessel. Besides, we shall maintain our
Group's variety of services types with a balance approach to
meet different demands in the market.

According to Asphalt Tanker Market Review issued by an
industry researcher, the asphalt tanker fleet has been
performing a key role in addressing asphalt supply imbalances
between producing refineries and end-use destinations.
Transporting asphalt by water between countries and regions of
the world has been increasing in recent years. The global
asphalt tanker chartering services market is expected to remain
relatively stable in 2019 as a mature industry after years of
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN WK D

We believe the global and regional economic and market
conditions are facing the threat of recent political and trade
disputes, such as Sino-U.S. trade war and sanction actions
against Iran and Venezuela. The events had no direct adverse
impact on our asphalt tanker chartering industry during the year
ended 31 December 2018. However, the demand for
infrastructure construction materials, and thereby asphalt, may
be declined due to slowing economic growth and, in turn, could
have a material adverse effect on our business. We are well
aware of the uncertainty ahead.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018, our revenue increased
to approximately US$42.7 million by approximately US$9.0
million or 26.7% compared to that of 2017. For the years under
review, the increase was mainly due to the number of our
vessels in operation increased from seven vessels to ten vessels.

The increase of approximately US$3.4 million or 16.9% of
revenue was generated from time charter services, mainly due
to our vessels, Lilstella and Poestella, were put into operation
for time charters and commenced to generate revenue in June
and July 2017, respectively.

The increase of approximately US$5.6 million or 40.9% of
revenue was generated from voyage charter, and CoAs, mainly
due to (i) our new vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, were
delivered and put into operation for voyage charter and CoAs
and commenced to generate revenue in February, April and
November 2018, respectively; and (ii) our vessels, Orcstella and
Rostella were delivered in March and April 2017 and not in full
operation for the year ended 31 December 2017, but they were
in full operation for the whole year ended 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmE D

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased to approximately US$28.2 million by
approximately US$7.8 million or 38.2% for the year ended 31
December 2018 compared to that of 2017. Such increase was in
line with the increase in revenue generated and the increase in
the number of vessels for the year. For the year ended 31
December 2018, our new vessels, Baustella, Jastella and
Lotstella, were put into operation in February, April and
November 2018, respectively. In addition, our vessels, Orcstella
and Rostella, were not fully operated for the year ended 31
December 2017, but were fully operated for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The increase of cost of sales was mainly due to:

(i)  our crew expense recorded an increase of approximately
US$2.2 million or 30.1%, which was mainly due to our new
vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella were put into
operation in February, April and November 2018,
respectively;

(i)  our depreciation recorded an increase of approximately
US$1.8 million or 32.7%, which was mainly due to (a) our
new vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella commenced
to charge for depreciation upon delivery of approximately
US$1.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
(b) our vessels, Orcstella and Rostella did not charge
depreciation for the whole year ended 31 December 2017,
and

(iii) our bunker fees and port charges recorded an increase of
approximately US$2.2 million and US$0.5 million or 81.5%
and 55.6%, respectively, such increase was mainly due to (a)
our new vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, were put
into operation for voyage charters and CoAs in February,
April and November 2018, respectively; and (b) our vessels,
Orcstella and Rostella did not operate for the whole year
ended 31 December 2017.

12 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

HERAK

HZE2018F12831BILFE - HMIAVH
BERAR20177FE L7880 XL
382% £ 4282 H EETT © i% L MNEARF
EEAMKEIEMMAMEE G IN—3 -
HZE2018F 12 A31BIEFE - B
MMEFE  FHERATEED IR 2018
F2RC4AMNMAKBAEE - 1IN &K
FRMMABEEERBEREREE2017F
ANBLEFEHNARATERAEE B
REBZE2018F 1231 BEEFEE RS
TANBE o

HEMAEIMEZ AR -

(i) ‘AWM ERAIEMN22B8EET
530.1%  FEHREMAFTRME
FIE FFERMIEED RIN2018
F28 4RI ARAES °

(i) FHMOFTELMNI18E EE T
32.7% » EEZHN (a) HFIRF AL
KHFE  RKNERFEENRZF1E
REZE2018412 A 31 B ILFERA
HBRITEBRNI1BEET  kb)
BRPMAEIEE R RERES
207FE12A3NBLEEZ2FEIEEH
e &

(i) BPIROPEIE KB E 5D BI04
22B8FTH81.5% K05SAEEETT
555.6% * £ Z H 1 (a) I I &9 F A
MEAE - XMERFEEDRIR
20182 A 4 AF111 ARARRAK
DBEERES Kb HRMOMAME
TEERBIREREZE2017F12 A 31
HIEFEHRRTRIRAEE o



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEN WK D

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit increased to approximately US$14.5 million by
approximately US$1.2 million, or 9.0% for the year ended 31
December 2018 compared to that of 2017. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in the gross profit of
approximately US$0.9 million from voyage charter, and CoAs,
which the revenue grew by 40.9% resulting from (i) our new
vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella were put into operation
in February, April and November 2018; and (ii) our vessels,
Orcstella and Rostella did not operate for full period for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

However, our gross profit margin dropped from approximately
39.3% for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately
33.9% for the year ended 31 December 2018, was mainly
attributable to lower profit margin of voyage charters and CoAs
and slight drop of profit margin of time charters. It was mainly
because the bunker costs increased significantly during the year
ended 31 December 2018, but we could not shift the cost by
rising charter hire rate to our customers. The bunker price index
demonstrated upward trend since the second half of 2017 to
the highest record in October 2018 among the years of 2017
and 2018. In addition, the three new vessels operated under
voyage charters and CoAs, which were delivered during the
year ended 31 December 2018, and started to generate revenue
upon delivery, but certain pre-operating costs were incurred
before their delivery such as crew expenses and management
fees.

Our gross profit from time charters slightly increased by
approximately 3.5% for the year ended 31 December 2018,
however its gross profit margin slightly dropped resulting from
a vessel operated under time charters were off-hired for 45 days
due to a fire accident towards the end of 2018, but the fixed
costs such as depreciation were still charged for the off-hired
period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmE D

Other income

Our other income increased significantly by approximately
US$7.9 million or 2,633.3% from approximately US$0.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately US$8.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2018. Such increase
was mainly due to an insurance compensation income of US$6.8
million in relation to the repair costs of a vessel with a fire
accident. Besides, the fair value gain on derivative financial
instruments of approximately US$0.3 million mainly in relation
to the interest rate swap contracts was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2018, but fair value loss on interest rate
swap contracts was recorded in other operating expense for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

Administrative expenses

Our Group's administrative expenses increased by
approximately US$1.8 million or 85.7% from approximately
US$2.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to
approximately US$3.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2018, which was in line with the expansion in our business
operation for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The increase of administrative expenses was mainly due to:

(i)  our Group incurred non-recurrent listing expenses of
approximately US$1.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2018, but approximately US$0.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017, because our listing
activities commenced from the second half of 2017; and

(i) our staff costs recorded an increase of approximately
US$0.2 million due to the increase in wage rate and the
number of employees.

Other operating expenses

Our Group recorded other operating expenses of
approximately US$0.4 million and US$7.1 million for the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2018, respectively. The increase
in other operating expenses was mainly due to the repair costs
for a vessel with fire accident which was totally compensated by
insurance. In addition, as mentioned above the fair value loss on
derivative financial instruments in relation to interest rate swap
contracts was recorded in the year ended 31 December 2017,
but the fair value gain mainly on interest rate swap contracts
was recorded in the other income for the year ended 31
December 2018.
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Exchange gains/losses, net

Our Group recorded net exchange gains of approximately
US$0.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
compared to net exchange losses of approximately US$1.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2017, which was
principally attributable to the exchange fluctuation of our
Group's bank loans denominated in Singapore Dollars (“SGD").
Our Group maintained the bank loans denominated in SGD
during the years under review, amounting to approximately
US$20.2 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: US$24.4 million).
United States dollars ("USD") depreciated against SGD by
approximately 8.2% for the year ended 31 December 2017,
resulting in exchange losses when conversion of the bank loans
denominated in SGD, while USD appreciated against SGD by
approximately 1.9% for the year ended 31 December 2018,
resulting in exchange gain when conversion of the bank loans
denominated in SGD.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by approximately US$1.9 million, or
52.8% for the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to
that of 2017. The increase was mainly attributable to rise of
finance lease charges by approximately US$2.2 million due to
the addition of our new vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella,
under the finance lease arrangement in the year ended 31
December 2018. In addition, as all bank loans and finance leases
are arranged at floating interest rates, the bank interests and
finance lease charges increased in line the increasing trend of
interest rate during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Income tax expense

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax, PRC Corporate Income
Tax and Singapore Corporate Income Tax was made since our
Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2018. It was because no tax position for
Hong Kong profits tax, PRC corporate income tax and
Singapore corporate income tax of our Group is required.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year
Our profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2018 increased by approximately US$0.6 million,
or 10.0% to approximately US$6.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 as compared to approximately US$6.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017, while our net profit
margin slightly decreased to 15.5% from 17.9% for the
respective years.
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Such increase in our profit was primarily due to the combined
effect of (i) the increase in our revenue resulted from the three
new vessels, namely Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, which were
put into operation in February, April and November 2018,
respectively, (ii) fair value gain on derivative financial
instruments and exchange gain of approximately US$0.3 million
and US$0.3 million, respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2018; (iii) fair value loss on derivative financial
instruments and exchange loss of approximately US$0.3 million
and US$1.5 million, respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2017; but partially offset (iv) the increase in non-
recurrent listing expenses of approximately US$1.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018, our Group's total assets amounted to
approximately US$211.0 million (2017: US$164.0 million) with
net assets amounting to approximately US$99.1 million (2017:
US$74.4 million). As at 31 December 2018, gearing ratio (total
debts divided by the total equity attributable to owners of our
Company) of our Group was 1.09, a mere increase of 4.8
percentage points as compared to that of 1.04 as at the end of
2017. Net debt to equity ratio (net debt, being our total debts
net of bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits, by
total equity attributable to owners of our Company) of our
Group was 0.89 as at 31 December 2018, a drop of 9.2
percentage points as compared to that of 0.98 as at the end of
2017. Current ratio of our Group improved to 1.16 as at 31
December 2018 as compared to that of 0.25 as at the end of
2017.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2018, the liquidity position has improved
mainly due to the better cash position resulting from the net
proceeds of approximately HK$123.2 million from the Global
Offering. Our Group adopts a balanced approach to cash and
financial management to ensure proper risk control and lower
the costs of funds, and seeks to maintain optimal level of
liquidity that can meet our working capital needs while
supporting a healthy level of business and our various growth
strategies. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank loans and
finance lease payables of approximately US$107.8 million in
aggregate increased by US$30.6 million as compared to 31
December 2017, which was primarily due to financing for new
vessels. Our Group finances our operations and growth
primarily through cash generated from operations, bank loans
and finance lease arrangement, as well as the net proceeds
from the Global Offering.
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As at 31 December 2018, our Group had pledged bank deposits
and bank and cash balances of approximately US$19.6 million,
an increase of approximately US$15.7 million as compared to
approximately US$3.9 million as at 31 December 2017. Such
increase was mainly due to the net proceeds from the Listing
and operating profits generated for the year ended 31
December 2018. As at 31 December 2018, our pledged bank
deposits are denominated in USD and most of our bank and
cash balances are denominated in USD.

Treasury Policies

The primary objective of our Group's capital management is to
maintain its ability to continue as a going concern so that our
Group can constantly provide returns for shareholders of our
Company (the “Shareholders”) and benefits for other
stakeholders by securing access to financing at reasonable
costs. Our Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure and makes adjustment by taking into
consideration the changes in economic conditions, its future
capital requirements, prevailing and projected profitability and
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and
projected strategic investment opportunities.

INDEBTEDNESS

As at 31 December 2018, our Group's indebtedness comprised
bank loans and finance lease payables of approximately
US$39.4 million and US$68.3 million, respectively. Our bank
loans are denominated in USD and SGD, while our finance lease
payables are denominated in USD. All bank loans and finance
lease payables are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing our
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. During the year ended 31
December 2018, our Group used interest rate swaps in order to
mitigate its risk exposure associated with fluctuations relating to
interest cash flows.
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The maturity of bank loans and finance lease payables as at 31
December 2018 is as follows:

HZE2018F12A31H - RITERLRE
MERMROIHELNT -

Finance lease

Bank loans payables

mMEHEE

RITER PEAS TR

US$'000 US$'000

FET FET

Within one year —FE A 7,330 11,561
More than one year, but not —F A BT BEMRSF

exceeding two years 7,330 11,561
More than two years, but not MEAEEBTHBARF

more than five years 23,188 45,199

More than five years REE 1,583 -

39,431 68,321

Our bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of
construction of our vessels, as at 31 December 2018, such bank
loans were secured by:

(i)  mortgage over our Group's vessels;

(i) corporate guarantees provided by our Company and
subsidiaries; and

(i) pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balances.

As at 31 December 2018, our finance lease payables were
secured by:

(i)  charges over our Group's vessels;

(i)  corporate guarantees provided by our Company and/or
subsidiaries;

(iii) restricted bank balances; and

(iv) charge over shares of our subsidiaries.
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

Our Group has a certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
respective Group entities such as SGD and Renminbi, mainly
our bank loans are denominated in SGD. In February 2018, we
adopted a foreign exchange rate and interest rate risk control
policy to manage the foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk. Our Group monitors the foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging transactions to mitigate significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, our Group entered into foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk in
respect of bank loans denominated in SGD.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amounts of bank deposits
and vessels pledged as securities for our Group's bank loans
amounted to approximately US$1.3 million and US$69.4 million
respectively. At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
vessels held by our Group under finance leases amounted to
approximately US$114.8 million.

At 31 December 2018, bank balances of approximately US$0.8
million and US$1.0 million were restricted from being used and
charged over our Group's bank loans and financial lease
payables respectively.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2018, our Group had no capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2018, our Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

We value our employees and recognise the importance of a
good relationship with our employees. We recruit our
employees based on their work experience, education
background and qualifications. To maintain and ensure the
quality of our employees, we provide our personnel formal and
on-the-job training to enhance their technical skills as well as
knowledge of industry quality standards and work place safety
standards. As at 31 December 2018, our Group had a total of 35
employees of which 30 were in the PRC, 2 were in Hong Kong
and 3 were in Singapore. The remuneration to our employees
includes salaries and allowances. Employees are remunerated
according to their qualifications, experiences, job nature,
performance and with reference to market conditions.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Our Group had not held any significant investments during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no

material acquisition or disposal by our Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme on 6 September 2018 and which became effective on
the Listing Date. Under the share option scheme, the eligible
participants of the scheme, including Directors, full-time
employees of and advisers and consultants to our Company or
our subsidiaries may be granted options which entitle them to
subscribe for Shares, when aggregated with options granted
under any other scheme, representing initially not more than
10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the scheme will remain in force for 10
years from that date. No share option had ever been granted
under the scheme since its adoption.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no definite future plan for material investments and
acquisition of material capital assets as at 31 December 2018.

LISTING AND USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
SHARE OFFER

The Company listed its Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 26 September 2018 (the “Listing Date”) and
issued a total of 100,000,000 Shares by way of global offering at
a price of HK$1.50 each (the “Listing”). The net proceeds from
the Listing were approximately HK$123.2 million (after
deducting the listing expenses), which is slightly lower than the
estimated net proceeds of approximately HK$124.8 million. The
difference of approximately HK$1.6 million has been adjusted in
the same manner and in the same proportion to use of
proceeds as disclosed in the section headed "Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 11
September 2018 (the “Prospectus”) as follows:

e approximately 90.2% of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering, or approximately HK$111.1 million (equivalent to
approximately US$14.2 million), will be used for expanding
the Group's fleet by purchasing two new vessels in the
next two years in order to cope with its business
development, strengthen its brand name and increase its
competitiveness in the industry as well as its ability to cater
for different needs and requirements of different
customers; and

e approximately 9.8% of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering, or approximately HK$12.1 million (equivalent to
approximately US$1.5 million), will be used as the Group's
working capital.
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An analysis of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2018 is set
out below:

HZE2018F 12 A31 HE BRI AEHIE
FEEOTIT ¢

Estimated Adjusted Utilised up to
use of use of 31 December
proceeds proceeds 2018
BZE2018%F

fhEtE KRERE 12A31H
FIHAR MEAR E8A

HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ million

BEETT BEET BEETT

Purchase of two new vessels B E MM

112.6 111.1 -

General working capital —REEES 12.2 12.1 -
Total a5t 124.8 123.2 -

The net proceeds raised by the Group have not been utilised
from the Listing Date up to the date of this report. There have
been no material changes or delays to use of proceeds, as we
plan to execute our shipbuilding plans in the second half of
2019. The unused net proceeds as at 31 December 2018 were
placed as bank balances with licensed bank in Hong Kong,
Singapore and offshore account with a licenced China bank,
and will be applied in the manner consistent with the proposed
allocations.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ding Xiaoli

Mr. Ding Xiaoli (T B 35t 4) (alias Mr. Ding Xiaoming (T Z$4%t
4)), aged 57, is our executive Director and the chairman of the
Board. Mr. Ding has been a Director since 28 June 2016, being
the date of incorporation of our Company. Mr. Ding has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been responsible for overseeing the overall
operations and business development of our Group. Mr. Ding is
a director of each member of our Group other than Brilliant Star
and Xinlanhai. Mr. Ding is the elder brother of Mr. Ding
Xiaosheng, a vice president of our Group.

Mr. Ding has approximately eight years of relevant experience
in the shipping industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ding served as staff and the
associate division chief of the foreign economic division of the
Finance Bureau of Ningde City, Fujian Province ({8 &% ZfEm
BB IMERL from October 1985 to July 1992. Mr. Ding also
worked at Ningde District Import and Export Company Limited
(ZEf= b [@3E H O A 7)), a company principally engaged in import
and export trade business, from July 1992 to October 1998.

From February 1996 until now, Mr. Ding served as the chairman
of the board of director of Fuzhou Lianxin Real Estate Co., Ltd
(tf@MEEFHEBR AR, a company principally engaged in
the construction, rental, sale of commercial housing, where he
was mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overseeing the overall operations.
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From December 2000 until now, Mr. Ding served as the
chairman of the board of director of Fujian Lian Xin, where he
was mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overseeing the overall operations.

From November 2009 until now, Mr. Ding served as the
chairman of the board of director of Jincheng Hengtong, where
he was mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overseeing the overall operations.

From March 2010 until now, Mr. Ding served as the chairman of
the board of director of Union Faith Investment (Holdings)
Limited (12 & (RE)RMHAER A F]), a company principally
engaged in investment holding, where he was mainly
responsible for corporate strategic planning and overseeing the
overall operations. From February 2011 until now, Mr. Ding
served as the chairman of the board of director of Union Faith,
a company principally engaged in investment holding, where he
was mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overseeing the overall operations. From March 2017 until now,
Mr. Ding served as the chairman of the board of director of Hai
Xin Petroleum Trading Limited (B A HREZBRAA), a
company principally engaged in oil trade business, where he
was mainly responsible for corporate strategic planning and
overseeing the overall operations.

Mr. Ding graduated from Fujian Ningde Finance School (f@#2%
fEAT 42 4) in the PRC and received college diploma in
corporate accounting in July 1983. Mr. Ding holds the certificate
of assistant accountant issued by the finance bureau of Ningde
District of Fujian Province in March 1992.
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EENEREEERE

Xu Wenjun

Mr. Xu Wenjun (#8339 %55 4), aged 63, is our executive Director
and the chief executive officer of our Group. Mr. Xu has been a
Director since 28 June 2016, being the date of incorporation of
our Company. Mr. Xu has participated in the management of
our Group since 1 February 2010 where he has been responsible
for corporate strategic planning, overseeing the overall
operations and business development and day-to-day business
management of our Group. Mr. Xu is a director of each member
of our Group other than Brilliant Star and Xinlanhai.

Mr. Xu has approximately twelve years of relevant experience in
the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Xu worked
as the deputy general manager at Fuzhou Dongfang Jinrong
Shipping Co., Ltd. ({8 MR 7 #R#a/GEHFR A F]), a company
principally engaged in international shipping management
business, from November 2002 to June 2006, where he was
mainly responsible for international shipping business. From
May 2006 until now, Mr. Xu worked as the general manager of
Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally engaged in
investment, where he was mainly responsible for making
investment.

Mr. Xu served as the chief executive officer and general
manager of Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 to
November 2017, where he was mainly responsible for
overseeing the overall operations.

Mr. Xu received the certificate of Adult Higher Education
majoring in economic management from Fujian Normal
University (f& 2280 & A 22) in the PRC in September 2000.
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Ding Yuzhao

Mr. Ding Yuzhao (T E£#&I54), aged 64, is our executive
Director. Mr. Ding has been a Director since 28 June 2016,
being the date of incorporation of our Company. Mr. Ding has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been responsible for overseeing the overall
operations and business development of our Group. Mr. Ding is
a director of each member of our Group other than Brilliant Star
and Xinlanhai.

Mr. Ding has approximately eight years of relevant experience
in the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ding
worked as a deputy manager at Ningde District Power Company
(Z/=Hb[EFE f1AF)), a company principally engaged in providing
technical support and construction for power systems from
March 1990 to December 1991, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical support for power
construction. From April 1994 to May 1997, Mr. Ding worked as
a director and general manager at Fujian Muyang Creek
Hydropower Development Co., Ltd. (f@iZ&RBIHZZEKEFRES
FR/A 7)), a company principally engaged in hydropower
construction, where he was mainly responsible for providing
technical support for hydropower station development and
construction. From May 1997 to August 2006, Mr. Ding served
as the general manager of Mindong Power Investment
Company Limited (B3R gEIRIE BR A7), which is principally
engaged the business of power investment, where he was
mainly responsible for overseeing investment in hydropower
station and fossil-fuel power station.
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EENEREEERE

From November 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Ding served as the
deputy general manager and then the general manager of
Ningde City State-owned Asset Investment Company Limited
(BEMEAEEREBR AR, a company principally engaged
in investment, where he was mainly responsible for investment
and operation of state-owned asset. From August 2006 to
March 2010, Mr. Ding served as the chairman of Ningde City
State-owned Properties Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (28
EmmEAEEERELEABR AR and director of Ningde City
State-owned Asset Supervision and Management Committee
(BEMHNEEEEEETIEZEE), both of which principally
engaged the business of investment, where he was mainly
responsible for investment and operation of state-owned asset.
From July 2011 to September 2017, Mr. Ding served as the
general manager at Fujian Haodeyuan Investment Co., Ltd (1&
EREITIEBMR AT, a company principally engaged in
investment, where he was mainly responsible for investment in
real estate business. From January 2016 until now, Mr. Ding
served as the supervisor of Xiamen Tangram Science and
Technology Co., Ltd. (EFIE ARHERMHBRAF]), a company

principally engages in information technology.

Mr. Ding received the Bachelor’'s degree from the electric
engineering school of the Wuhan Institute of Hydraulic and
Electric Engineering (EVE/KH|E 18 Ft) majoring in High-
voltage electricity technology and equipment in September
1982. Mr. Ding was granted the qualification as a senior
engineer in hydropower by the Department of Personnel of
Fujian Province in July 1996.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Lai Guanrong

Dr. Lai Guanrong (RBERE& L 4), aged 56, has been our
independent non-executive Director since 6 September 2018.

Dr. Lai has approximately sixteen years of experience in finance
industry. From November 2001 to May 2005, he served as the
president of Huafu Securities Company Limited (ZE4&78 515
BIR/A7]), currently known as Huafu Securities Corporation
Limited (2878 5 B R & £ 2 7)), a company principally engaged
in securities brokerage and trading where he was mainly
responsible for material decision making. From December 2005
until now, Dr. Lai acted as the deputy general manager, general
manager and deputy chairman of Jiahe Life Insurance Co., Ltd.
(EARAASRERMKODABRZAFR), currently known as ABC Life
Insurance Co., (BRIRASRERMDERAF]), a company
principally engaged in insurance business, where he was mainly
responsible for material decision making. Dr. Lai has also been
serving as an independent non-executive director of Chinasoft
International Limited (Stock Exchange stock code: 00354), a
company principally engaged in system applications technology
service business since June 2015.

Dr. Lai graduated from the School of Economics of Xiamen
University in July 1983 with a bachelor’s degree, majoring in
finance. He obtained a master’s degree in currency and banking
business from the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
(formerly known as the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of
China) in June 1986. He obtained a doctor's degree majoring in
finance from the School of Economics of Xiamen University in
December 2001.
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Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (A& E%A), aged 54, has been our
independent non-executive Director since 6 September 2018.
He is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a partner of
Withers. Mr. Suen has approximately seventeen years’
experience in corporate finance and with area of practice
principally in initial public offerings on the Stock Exchange,
mergers and acquisitions, corporate reorganisations and Listing
Rules compliance.

Before joining Withers, Mr. Suen was an associate and later a
partner of DLA Piper Hong Kong from June 2007 to May 2012
and May 2012 to February 2018 respectively, and served as a
manager in the investment products department of the SFC
between October 2005 and July 2006, responsible for reviewing
applications of collective investment schemes and monitoring
continuing compliance of authorized schemes. Mr. Suen was an
assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo from September 2000
to March 2005.

Mr. Suen graduated from the University of East Anglia in July
1987 with a Bachelor of Science Degree and the Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws program in the University of Hong Kong in
June 1998. Mr. Suen was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong
in October 2000 and in England and Wales in December 2003.
Mr. Suen is also a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1993.
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Xu Jie
Mr. Xu Jie (fREESL4), aged 64, has been our independent non-
executive Director since 6 September 2018.

Mr. Xu has accumulated over thirty-one years of experience in
the legal field. From June 1986 to July 1993, Mr. Xu was the
deputy president of the Maritime Commercial Tribunal of the
Shanghai Maritime Court (E/8/8%%AFt) of the PRC. From
September 1993 to October 1994, Mr. Xu was a teacher at the
Shanghai Maritime College (_E/8/8:82F1), currently known as
Shanghai Maritime University (/8% KX2). From October
1994 to December 2000, Mr. Xu worked as a partner in Duan &
Duan (B FEX RIS TEFT). From January 2001 to May 2014, Mr.
Xu served as the partner of Shanghai Haoying Law Office* (/&
/& RERIESAT). From May 2014 to November 2016, Mr. Xu
served as the senior partner of Co-Effort Law Firm LLP (_E/8T 1
DALEETE i)

Mr. Xu graduated from the Shanghai Maritime College (/&
{EEPT), currently known as Shanghai Maritime University (/8
8= KEZ) in January 1982 with a Bachelor’'s degree, majoring in
ocean shipping transportation, and obtained a Master's degree
majoring in international economic law in January 1991. Mr. Xu
has also been an arbitrator at the China Maritime Arbitration

Commission (F B8 E{PEZE B €) since May 2017.
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Senior management

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng (T Z4 % 4) (former name as Mr. Ding
Xiaodi) (T Z k5L HE), aged 45, is the vice president of our
Company since 28 June 2016. Mr. Ding Xiaosheng has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been primarily responsible for supervising
ship construction projects of our Group. Mr. Ding Xiaosheng is
the younger brother of Mr. Ding Xiaoli, an executive Director.

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng has approximately eight years of relevant
experience in the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Ding Xiaosheng worked as a staff member at the agricultural
tax division of the Finance Bureau of Xiapu County* (&8 82811
R of Ningde City, Fujian Province from August 1992 to
May 1996, where he was mainly responsible for collection of
agricultural tax.

From December 2003 until April 2018, Mr. Ding Xiaosheng was
a director and the deputy general manager of Fujian Lian Xin, a
company principally engaged in investment holding, real estate
development and property management business, where he
was mainly responsible for overseeing the overall operations.

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng served as the deputy chief executive officer
of Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 until November 2017,
where he was mainly responsible for supervening investment of
Jincheng Hengtong.

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng graduated from No. é Middle School of
Xiapu County (BH&E/NFE) in June 1990. Mr. Ding
Xiaosheng received the National Certificate of Construction
Cost Estimator Qualification (EBER TIREBEERKEE)
issued by the China Engineering Cost Association (IR T
REEEEHS) in July 2007.
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Mr. Chen Chengmei (BREEHME5E4), aged 56, is the vice
president of our Company since 28 June 2016. Mr. Chen has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been primarily responsible for supervising
tanker chartering business of our Group.

Mr. Chen has approximately eight years of relevant experience
in the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen
served as the general manager at Fuzhou South Pipeline Gas
Technology Development Co., Ltd* (181 f 77 & 8 FA SR F iy 7 2
BBRAF]) from April 2002 to April 2004, a company principally
engaged in gas Technology Development pipeline provision,
where he was mainly responsible for overseeing the overall
operations of gas pipeline provision.

From May 2006 until April 2018, Mr. Chen served as the deputy
general manager at Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally
engaged in investment, where he was mainly responsible for
supervising overall operations.

Mr. Chen served as the deputy chief executive officer of
Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 until November 2017,
where he was mainly responsible for supervening investment of
Jincheng Hengtong.
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Mr. Xu Jianping (fREF 5 4), aged 60, is the vice president of
our Company since February 2017. Mr. Xu Jianping has
participated in the management of our Group since February
2017 where he has been primarily responsible for ship safety
management of our Group.

Mr. Xu Jianping has approximately twenty-two years of relevant
experience in the shipping industry. From January 1996 to
August 2007, Mr. Xu Jianping then served as the manager of
the corporate planning department and crew of Fujian Shipping
Corporation* (1R & Mt 422 7)), now known as Fujian Shipping
Group Co., Ltd. ((RiEE BESEBEBRELAFR]), a company
principally engaged in shipping business, where he was mainly
responsible for formulating operation and production plans.
From August 2007 to December 2010, Mr. Xu Jianping served
as the general manager and ship captain at China Master
Shipping Limited* (EE&MEHFRAF]), a company principally
engaged in shipping business, where he was mainly responsible
for ship safety management.

Mr. Xu Jianping served as the general manager of Sky Rainbow
Shipping Limited (RELATEHR A A]) from January 2011 to
January 2017, a company principally engaged in shipping
business, where he was mainly responsible for overseeing the
overall operations.

Mr. Xu Jianping served as the deputy chief executive officer of
Jincheng Hengtong from February 2017 until November 2017,
where he was mainly responsible for supervening investment of
Jincheng Hengtong.

Mr. Xu Jianping graduated from Jimei Navigation Institute (53
FUEERIZR, now known as Jimei University (82 AX22)) in the
PRC majoring in navigation in July 1980. Mr. Xu Jianping was
granted the qualification as an intermediate level sea captain
(BT (F 4)) by the PRC Harbour Superintendency
Administration* (P2 A R EF BB B EER) in October 1990,
and was granted the sea crew certificate (i B# &) by Shanghai
Maritime Safety Administration of the PRC (% A R £ ANE )&
EER) in June 2006.
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Mr. Lin Shifeng (#kttt# 55 4), aged 42, is the financial controller
of our Company since July 2011. Mr. Lin has participated in the
management of our Group since July 2016 where he has been
primarily responsible for overseeing the financial planning and
accounting management of our Group.

Mr. Lin has approximately seventeen years of relevant
experience in accounting and finance management, where he
has spent approximately fourteen years in the shipping industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Lin worked as an account
supervisor at Fujian Wanfeng Shoes Co., Ltd* (fR 2B E#H%EH
fR27F]), a company principally engaged in sports products
production, from July 2000 to November 2003, where he was
mainly responsible for product cost accounting and difference
analysis, data statistics and financial statement preparation.

From November 2003 to January 2006, Mr. Lin worked as an
accountant at P&0O NEDLLOYD (CHINA) Ltd. Fuzhou Branch (&
TAEZE(FRB)MBEER A RIEIMNSRF]), a company principally
engaged in shipping business, where he was mainly responsible
for cost accounting and cost control.

From February 2006 to November 2007, Mr. Lin worked as an
assistant accountant and cost manager at Maersk Logistics
(China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged in container
shipping, where he was mainly responsible for registering and
controlling operational cost and assisting payment center to
arrange operational payment.

From November 2007 to January 2015, Mr. Lin served as a
financial supervisor at Dafei Shipping (China) Company Limited
Fuzhou Branch (ZER &M (F BB R A AlEMN D 27, a company
principally engaged in container transportation and, where he
was mainly responsible for account management and
accounting principal setting up.
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Mr. Lin served as the finance manager of Jincheng Hengtong
from March 2015 until April 2016 and as the financial controller
from July 2016 until November 2017, where he was mainly
responsible for accounting management.

From April 2016 to June 2016, Mr. Lin served as a finance
manager at Air Liquide (Fuzhou) Co., Ltd* (B{tZ=R (& /M) ER
‘A7A]), a company principally engaged in the supplying of
industrial gases and services, where he was mainly responsible
for accounting management and accounting principal setting

up.

Mr. Lin graduated from Changchun University of Science and
Technology (R&HEE T AE), formerly known as Changchun
Institute of Optics and Precision Instruments (&}t 5% 28
Z7) and received a bachelor's degree in accounting in July
2000. Mr. Lin was granted the certificate of accounting
professional (5T #X&EFEE) by the Finance Bureau of
Fuzhou (#&/NT BT BUR) in July 2012

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yim Lok Kwan (B&i&#9), was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on 14 June 2018. Mr. Yim has over 6
years of experience in the corporate services field. Mr. Yim
currently serves as a manager of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“SWCS"), formerly known as SW
Corporate Services Group Limited, a professional services
provider specialising in corporate services. Mr. Yim was
nominated by SWCS to act as our company secretary pursuant

to an engagement letter entered into between our Company
and SWCS.

Mr. Yim graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan University and
received a Bachelor's Degree in accounting in July 2010. In
September 2016, Mr. Yim obtained a master’s degree in
corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Since December 2016, he has been both an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in
the United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report
TRERHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm
belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the
principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. The CG Code has
been applicable to the Company with effect from the Listing
Date and was not applicable to the Company during the period
from 1 January 2018 to 25 September 2018.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with
all applicable code provisions of the CG Code since the Listing
Date up till 31 December 2018.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

As the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 26
September 2018, the Model Code was not applicable to the
Company during the period from 1 January 2018 to 25
September 2018.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required
from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time in
performing them.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of
skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the
Company and independence in decision making.

Throughout the year, the Board comprises six Directors. As at
31 December 2018 and up to the date of this annual report,
there are three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors of the Company. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ding Xiaoli (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Ding Yuzhao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Guanrong

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Xu Jie
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The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Biography of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors do not have any other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company have been separated as required by code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
Mr. Ding Xiaoli has served as the chairman of Company and Mr.
Xu Wenjun has served as the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The chairman provides leadership and governance for the
Board so as to create the conditions for the effective
performance of the Board as a whole and effective contribution
by individual Director and to ensure that the Board performs its
responsibilities and all key and appropriate issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely manner. The chief executive officer has
the delegated power to manage the Company and to oversee
the activities of the Company on a day-to-day basis.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer is defined and established in writing.
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Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records
During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
report, the Company did not convene an annual general
meeting, and two Board meetings were held. The Board held a
meeting on 28 September 2018 and, amongst other matters,
considered and approved the unaudited consolidated financial
information of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2018. The Board also held a meeting on 25 March 2019 and,
amongst other matters, considered and approved the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as

EEegeBREETHERRE

T HBPEARE HHEM - AR F)I
ERARARFBEFTAE  MEFYHEBITH
REEEEH EF2MN2018F9H28
HET—Xg%  EPeRERERILER
EEEE2018F6A30HIEAEAZ X
KEZEHMBER - EEE IR 2019
FIABHBIT - REHEPBIEEER
HEREEEHZ2018F 12831 HILFE
ICEIZER B IR o

FEZFHF LAeZNBEREINNT

follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings Attendance rate
HERE,
SRR HE xR
Name of Directors EEHE
Mr. Ding Xiaoli T HASstE 2/2 100%
Mr. Xu Wenjun X EE 2/2 100%
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TEEA 2/2 100%
Mr. Lai Guanrong FRESRLE 2/2 100%
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BREREE 2/2 100%
Mr. Xu Jie RExTE 2/2 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BYIEHITESE

During the reporting period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the
independence requirement set out in the Listing Rules.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors is engaged on a service contract (in the
case of the executive Directors) or a letter of appointment (in
the case of independent non-executive Directors) for a specific
term of three years.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the next following general
meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgment on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that they remain informed and relevant for their
contribution to the Board.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company's expenses.

During the reporting period, all Directors had complied with the
code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code through attending training
courses or reading materials relevant to the duties of Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Guanrong, Mr. Suen Chi
Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, Mr. Suen Chi Wai, being the chairman of
the committee, is appropriately qualified as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
controls system of the Group, assist the Board to fulfill its
responsibility over the audit, and review and approve connected
transactions and to advise the Board.
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The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. These
include developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management of the Company; reviewing and
monitoring the Company's policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and directors of the Company;
and reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code
from time to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure
in the corporate governance report to be contained in the
Company'’s annual report.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
report, three Audit Committee meetings were held. It had
reviewed and discussed the interim and annual financial
statements, the interim report, annual results announcement
and report, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and the effectiveness of the internal control of the
Group and recommended the re-appointment of auditor to the
Board.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit
Committee are as follows:

EZZBEeNAERTEERERTRIE
D31 RST AR PRSI A BRE - BB
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B EmARAERRE QA RPRERIT=R
BRZEegE  HOEREIRTHR
FEMBHRE  PHRE  FEXREQS
FRE - ARBFRANE T RARED
AR AR EBEREZEGINA R - W EH
BREZEMAESSIELEBER

BERREEKEMNHFETENT

Attendance/

Number of

Name of Members of the Audit Committee Meeting(s)
EREEGHRERA HER B8R
Mr. Suen Chi Wa (Chairman) BERLE(FE) 3/3
Mr. Lai Guanrong FEEIE K E 3/3
Mr. Xu Jie RESLAE 3/3

The Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2018 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Xu Jie and Mr. Suen Chi
Wai, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Xu
Wenijun, the chief executive officer and executive Director. Mr.
Xu Jie is the chairman of the committee. The majority of the
Remuneration Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board regarding the terms of
remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to our Directors and senior management.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on 26 September
2018, no meeting was held during the reporting period.

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on 25
March 2019. It had reviewed the Company’s remuneration
policy and restructure and the remuneration package for
Directors and senior management. The attendance records of
the members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

Name of Members of the Remuneration Committee

FHEEEREN S

FMEES

ARRIEBE EMRAREREATAR
VHEMZE ek EEEEBERE - F
MEZBem =K EAK - BB IERTT
SEERRETEMATELERETRARZR
MITE SRR EANK - RIS EEE
ZEEIR FHNZESRZKERBY
FRITES -

FNZEenBREE NERNEEERT
ARSI ERE - R B e EER
BEnERNIRENEZERSREEBNF
iF8 - A R AR R AESS
heftiEE -

MR ARFR2018F9 268 £ - #
BEERENAREHRET -

BEFMEBHREEAFRAE  FHES
SR2019F3ABHRIT -k @HF &
EENARREHREERSREEENT
BB R R 2848 - LARFIBN AR - FBE 8
BRI ERENT

Attendance/
Number of
Meeting(s)

HERERRE

Mr. Xu Jie (Chairman) wERE(EE)
Mr. Xu Wenjun R EE
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BRERLE
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

BIECEEATEIEBASIESTEEX -
HE2018F12A3BILFE  BRFEWNE
TBEBEASREEAB (EERIN A EHH
EJ-F NN

Number of

employee(s)

Remuneration bands (Note)
EEAE

e = (Bf¥aE)
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 4

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Ding Xiaoli, the chairman and executive Director, Mr. Suen
Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, the independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Ding Xiaoli is the chairman of the committee. The
majority of the Nomination Committee members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy on 6 September ZTEEE R 2018F9 A6 HEEME TS
2018. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out below: EZIEBR - EEE L TILERBE

Purpose:
HEY

Board Diversity
Policy statement:

Measurable Objectives:

THERE

ol

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
in the Company’s Board.
EEeREZTTEBREERHIENARREFTSHE L TTILIN A ©

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board's composition, the Nomination
committee has primary responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board and all Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. All appointments are based on the principle of merit-based
appointment and comprehensive consideration of objective conditions, so
as to select leading talents with both ability and virtue.
REYFFHENMIENER - ARRREESER R RS T b AT HIED B
BRMERTHEERNBRITE - ERFTEFSARE - RRZE8TE8E
MEAENAERREANREZTENE - MTAEEFSZMOURAKES RE
% WHEZBEAERUAEBGRGBAEEFENESTICNRE - MAEZEENE
MEERBEIRHTEEBERESE - NEBEARNMNEANEEAS -

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
IREABR— R Z oL EIE RE%E - BEEATRRIER - Fik - ERHE
B Bk BELR - B ABRRBER - ZEFIRIEE AN RERA]
RESSRHENBERMIERE
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
which set out a set of nomination procedures and selection
criteria for directors. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate
and select candidates based on the criteria by reference to
character and integrity, business experience relevant and
beneficial to the Company, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills and knowledge that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the
Board and other significant commitments, present needs of the
Board for particular expertise, skills or experience and whether
the candidates would satisfy those needs, requirement for the
Board to have independent directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates for independent
directors would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and
the board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity
on the Board.

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on 26 September
2018, no meeting was held during the reporting period.

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held on 25
March 2019. It had reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board, assessed the independence of the independent
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non-executive Directors, made recommendations to the Board ZHRESZ=2/ELEES R NLEGTIRABE
on the re-appointment of Directors and reviewed and made Wttt AIZEESELEESR - 1228
recommendations to the Board on the nomination policy. The @K E/HELEELT ¢
attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Name of Members of the Nomination Committee Meeting(s)
REZEgHRENH S HER BFRE
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (Chairman) THMNEE(FE) 11
Mr. Suen Chi Wai FEELEE 11
Mr. Xu Jie wEEE 11
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

We evaluate and monitor key risks within our business as
follows:

e Credit Risk. We select customers with good credit records
and preferably larger companies with long established
records. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “"Business — Sales and Marketing” in the
Prospectus.

e Environmental Risk. We maintain a newer fleet of vessels
with an average age of less than three years old, with
regular inspections of equipment carried out and we rely
on experienced and professional ship management
companies to minimise the probability of environmental
pollution. For further details, please refer to the section
headed "Business — Suppliers — Ship Management
Companies” in the Prospectus.

e Market Risk. We are exposed to various types of market
risks, including changes in foreign exchange rate, interest
rate and fluctuations of any component of our operating
costs during the normal course of business.

For further details regarding our exposure to market risks,
please refer to the sections headed “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Business” and “Financial Information —
Principal Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations” in
the Prospectus.

e  Political Risk. As maritime safety will be affected by political
unrest, our marine department will closely monitor the
maritime safety of the route of our vessels to minimize the
impact of local conflicts or other political unrest.

During the reporting period, the Group has, in connection with
the listing process, engaged an independent internal control
consultant to a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance as well as risk
management. The Board considers that the Group's risk
management and internal control are adequate and effective.
The Group does not have an internal audit function and will
engage an external party to review risk management and
internal control systems annually.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the section headed "Independent Auditors’ Report”
of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 25 March 2019.
The dividend distribution ratio shall be determined by the
Board from time to time. The declaration and payment of
dividends shall be determined by the Board, which is also in the
best interests of the Group and shareholders of the Company.
In addition, the final dividend for any financial year is subject to
shareholders’ approval. The remaining net profit will be used
for the operation and development of the Group. When
determining whether to propose dividends and determining the
amount of dividends, the Board should consider, among other
things, the following factors:

(A) current and future business, actual and expected financial
results of the Company;

(B) any development plan of the Company;
(C) liquidity position, working capital and capital expenditure
requirements and future expected capital requirements of

the Group;

(D) the debt-to-equity ratio, return-on-equity ratio and the
level of the relevant financial contracts of the Group;

(E) any restrictions on the payment of dividends may be
imposed by the lenders of the Group or other third parties;
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(F) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group
and each member of the Group;

(G) general economic conditions, the business cycle of the
Group's business as well as other internal and external
factors that may affect the Company or financial results
and position; and

(H) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate and
relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends are subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands Company Law, any
applicable laws, rules and regulations, including the Listing
Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Articles of
Association.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the external
auditors of the Company in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out
below:
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Fees Paid/

Service Category Payable
PR 7 38 B Bt EAER
HKD’000

BT T

Audit Services EZRTE 1,030
Non-audit Services IETZ RIS 3,140
TOTAL st 4,170

COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, external service provider, and Mr. Yim Lok
Kwan has been appointed as the Company’s company
secretary. Its primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lin
Shifeng, the financial controller of the Company.

The company secretary attended sufficient professional training

as required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2018 to update their skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of one or more members
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionist(s) held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law for shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in
the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person for
election as a director of the Company, please refer to the
"Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election
as a Director” of the Company which is posted on the
Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
as mentioned above via the following channels:

Address Room 4309-11A, 43th Floor, Shenglong Financial
Centre. No. 1 South Guangming Road, Taijiang,
Fuzhou, China

Email angelazhu@xysgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the
annual general meeting, directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.xysgroup.com as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In preparation for the Listing, the Company has adopted the
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association pursuant to a special resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting on 6 September 2018, which
became effective on the Listing Date. Since then, the Company
has not made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles of
Association. An up-to-date version of the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group"”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
are principally engaged in provision of asphalt tanker chartering
services. The principal activities of the Company's principal
subsidiaries are set forth in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2018 by operating segment is set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
"Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
and the financial position of the Company and the Group as at
31 December 2018 are set forth in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 97 to 100 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities.
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LISTING AND USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE
SHARE OFFER

The Company listed its Shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 26 September 2018 (the “Listing Date”) and
issued a total of 100,000,000 Shares by way of global offering at
a price of HK$1.50 each. The net proceeds from the Listing were
approximately HK$123.2 million (after deducting the listing
expenses), which is slightly lower than the estimated net
proceeds of approximately HK$124.8 million. The difference of
approximately HK$1.6 million has been adjusted in the same
manner and in the same proportion to use of proceeds as
disclosed in the section headed "Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus as follows:

e approximately 90.2% of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering, or approximately HK$111.1 million (equivalent to
approximately US$14.2 million), will be used for expanding
the Group's fleet by purchasing two new vessels in the
next two years in order to cope with its business
development, strengthen its brand name and increase its
competitiveness in the industry as well as its ability to cater
for different needs and requirements of different
customers; and

e approximately 9.8% of the net proceeds from the Global
Offering, or approximately HK$12.1 million (equivalent to
approximately US$1.5 million), will be used as the Group's
working capital.

An analysis of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2018 is set
out below:
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The net proceeds raised by the Group have not been utilised
from the Listing Date up to the date of this report. There have
been no material changes or delays to use of proceeds, as we
plan to execute our shipbuilding plans in the second half of
2019. The unused net proceeds as at 31 December 2018 were
placed as bank balances with licensed bank in Hong Kong,
Singapore and offshore account with a licenced China bank,
and will be applied in the manner consistent with the proposed
allocations.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company to be held
on Friday, 21 June 2019, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 18 June 2019 to Friday,
21 June 2019, both days inclusive, during the period no transfer
of shares will be registered. All transfers accompanied by the
relevant certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m
on Monday, 17 June 2019.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately US$69.7 million (2017: US$55.1
million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company or
the Prospectus, is set out on pages 7 to 8 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (Chairman) (appointed on 28 June 2016)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 28 June 2016)
Mr. Ding Yuzhzo (appointed on 28 June 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (The “INEDS"):
Mr. Lai Guanrong (appointed on 6 September 2018)

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (appointed on 6 September 2018)

Mr. Xu Jie (appointed on 6 September 2018)

The Company has received written confirmations of
independence from each of the INEDs, namely Mr. Lai
Guanrong, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the
Company still considers the INEDs to be independent.

Retirement and re-election of Directors

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at
each AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring
Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who
have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

MBERBE

AEERNBENEMBFENEENEE
LREEHME (BEREARREEREEY
BRERIBRER) MR AFHRETE8H -

5=
RRAIRFARBEERAREAHNES
=3

HITES .
THMEE(EE)
(FA2016%F 6 A28 BEZRT)
WX (7T AEEL)
(2016F 6 A28 HEZL(T)
T E8I%A (R2016F 6 A28 BERT)

BYKBHITES(BILFEHTEE]D
FREILE A (A 2018 F9 A6 HEER(T)
FEEEAE (R2018E9 A6 B EET)
BELAE (R2018F9 6 BERT)

ARFDWEK B BEBILIFMITES (B
FEBARSEE REREERGRELL)R
B EMRAEINGRMEREEELE D
BEERER - RAHREBH - RAFHA
RSBUIFMTERY BB °

EEREREE
RIFABEIZ AR 108 15 - NEEBR
BEAG  ER=0ZWNEFABFER
£ A - MEBFABLIF=m[FE - 8
REEZABURELETPR=02—
MABGRE - BFARENES ARt
REEERRZIARTHEENES @ 1
Wz REENE— A ERSEEE - RIA
(M F 2 HE A B WERRIN) AL FRE
ARENES - REEFANEERE
# o

FEREXEEERAA /2018 FFH 57



Report of the Directors
EEEHS

According to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Any Director appointed under this Article shall not be taken into
account in determining the Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by rotation at an AGM. Accordingly, all
Directors will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM, being the first AGM of the
Company after the Listing.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors and INEDs, has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of three years, commencing from the Listing Date until
terminated by enter party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other. All of them are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM in
accordance with the Articles of Association. Their emolument
were determined by the Board by reference to their experience,
responsibilities and duties with the Company and shall be
reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee. The details
of the remuneration of each of the Directors are revealed on
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company,
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company's subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management
are set out on pages 23 to 35 to this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
There was no change to any information required to be
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a)
to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules upon the
Listing Date to 31 December 2018.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF OUR COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) ("SFO") which will be required (a) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) to be entered into the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (c) as otherwise to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
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contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set out as

follows:

BETA((REFR])  MEMEANAT]
KBS PR s SORBIAT

(a) Our Company (@) A&ATF]

Approximate

percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company

REQTH

EEgE EEME FrislRGEE™ B4 IR RELL )

Mr. Ding Xiaoli® Interest in controlled 264,685,985 Shares (L) 66.17%
corporation

THMEE® MR EE R 264,685,985 A% A% 17 (L) 66.17%

Mr. Xu Wenjun®@ Interest in controlled 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
corporation

RXIGFEE REEEER R 264,131,725 B A% 15 (L) 66.03%

Mr. Ding Yuzhao® Interest in controlled 272,445,740 Shares (L) 68.11%
corporation

T E8)5kAE® R EENER 272,445,740 B A% 15 (L) 68.11%

Notes: M5E -
(1) The letter “L" denotes our Directors’ long position in the Shares. () FEILRKRESHRROFTFHEEETE

(2)  Our Company is held as to approximately 66.03% by Centennial
Best Limited (“Centennial Best”), approximately 0.14% by Golden
Boomer Limited (“Golden Boomer"”) and approximately 2.08% by
Gigantic Path Limited (“Gigantic Path”). Centennial Best is held as
to approximately 43%, 42% and 15% by Golden Boomer, Perfect
Bliss Limited (“Perfect Bliss”) and Gigantic Path, which are in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding

Yuzhao, respectively.
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(b) Associated corporations

(b) FEECEHE

Nature of Approximate
associated Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest shares held shareholding
BEEpR MEEE SR ERtME RO EE LA IR AELL B
Mr. Ding Xiaoli Centennial Best Interest in controlled 4,300 shares (L) 43%
corporation
TEBULE Centennial Best R IE LB R 4,300 fx 15 (L) 43%
Mr. Xu Wenjun Centennial Best Interest in controlled 4,200 shares (L) 42%
corporation
w9k E Centennial Best R EE R R 4,200 B A 15 (L) 42%
Mr. Ding Yuzhao Centennial Best Interest in controlled 1,500 shares (L) 15%
corporation
TEEIEE Centennial Best R LB 1,500 B e (L) 15%
Note: 5T
(1) The letter “L" denotes a person'’s long position in the shares. MFE (LI RERBOFIHERTA -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be maintained pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time for the period
from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2018 was the
Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or their
spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right
to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any
such right.

Br EXXFriRERE SN - FR20185F 124318 -
MEEESIARNFETBETHRABRALQF]
S EE AR EB(TERFHFLBERK
BIZEXVED) B ~ AR KESFS -
HEEEREZBSFNAEGOEXVIEET
K85 ERAIE AN &) M Bt 2 AT Ay M 2 SO
B (BEREES KB KT A B IEXE
WEEIRAEENERRAE) JIRE
BA R EAE G0 352 (6K RN BIASNE
I FERNETLMAERSRE IRBE
YXESFRIBAE AN A B KB A AT R 2 oA

A& o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, so far as our Directors are aware, the
persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company) who will have or be deemed or taken to have
interests and/or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the Company's issued share capital
will be as follows:

FERRRRS R ARG DA
mRIXRE

MR2018F 128318  IBESHTA - LA T
AT (BEZRARRESITERABRIN &
RS R B & ER R (D AR IR 5
BEEREBEZELFMBAEGRIEXVEE2R
FIDEMIEX AT R BER RS & S0K
B HRALRRRBREES KAEENE
3 IEBEFEZELM - SiEEREER
ANNTDEBEITIAN 5% S A A AERS ¢

Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company
ZiESZER:Y RARRQFE
T B st ROMEY  BRESL
Centennial Best Beneficial owner 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
Centennial Best EnlAA 264,131,725 B B9 (L) 66.03%
Golden Boomer®? Beneficial owner 554,260 Shares (L) 0.14%
Golden Boomer®? EnEAA 554,260 PR 15 (L) 0.14%
Interest of controlled 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
corporation
REEE 264,131,725 %15 (L) 66.03%
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (T H 3%t 4) Interest in controlled 264,685,985 Shares (L) 66.17%
(alias Mr. Ding Xiaoming corporation
(TZ8pEHE)P
THMGEE (BT Z#8E4E)? RIEZENER 264,685,985 J& B 17 (L) 66.17%
Ms. Chen Qinhui (FR#XEZ L)@ Interest of spouse 264,685,985 Shares (L) 66.17%
PREAEL O [ 264,685,985 % 117 (L) 66.17%
Perfect Bliss® Interest of controlled 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
corporation
Perfect Bliss® XY AE R 264,131,725 B P& 15 (L) 66.03%
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Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company
RiEsZ=]:c) RARRQFE
&S 54 EEHtE iavie 4= FRESH
Mr. Xu Wenjun (¥R X395t 4 )@ Interest of controlled 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
corporation
R RED Ry EE S 264,131,725 B 47 (L) 66.03%
Ms. Zhu Zhen (R¥E % +)® Interest of spouse 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
KL+ FoiB s 264,131,725 B 817 (L) 66.03%
Gigantic Path® Beneficial owner 8,314,015 Shares (L) 2.08%
Gigantic Path® EnEBA 8,314,015 &A% 17 (L) 2.08%
Interest of controlled 264,131,725 Shares (L) 66.03%
corporation
R EE S 264,131,725 B 17 (L) 66.03%
Mr. Ding Yuzhao Interest of controlled 272,445,740 Shares (L) 68.11%
(T R8540 corporation
TE&EES R EE 272,445,740 B% 815 (L) 68.11%
Ms. Huang Cui (B2 1)? Interest of spouse 272,445,740 Shares (L) 68.11%
BEZ L0 AeiB s 272,445,740 B& B%1% (L) 68.11%
Bilsea International Pte. Ltd Beneficial owner 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
("Bilsea International”)®
Bilsea International Pte. Ltd BEmEE A 27,000,000 &A% 15 (L) 6.75%
([ Bilsea International ) ®
Ms. Liu Weipeng® Interest of controlled 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
corporation and
interest of spouse
Liu Weipeng 2+ ® R LR R AR 27,000,000 A& A% 153 (L) 6.75%
Mr. Yan Xiankai® Interest of controlled 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
corporation and
interest of spouse
Yan Xiankai 754 © R LB RS 27,000,000 B A% 15 (L) 6.75%
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Notes:
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The letter “L" denotes a person’s long position (as defined under Part XV
of the SFO) in our Shares.

Centennial Best is owned as to 43% by Golden Boomer, which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Ding Xiaoli. As such, each of Golden Boomer and
Mr. Ding Xiaoli is deemed to be interested in the 264,131,725 Shares held
by Centennial Best, and Mr. Ding Xiaoli is deemed to be interested in the
554,260 Shares held by Golden Boomer pursuant to the SFO.

Ms. Chen Qinhui is the spouse of Mr. Ding Xiaoli. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Chen is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Ding
Xiaoli.

Centennial Best is owned as to 42% by Perfect Bliss, which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Xu Wenjun. As such, each of Perfect Bliss and Mr.
Xu Wenjun is deemed to be interested in the 264,131,725 Shares held by
Centennial Best pursuant to the SFO.

Ms. Zhu Zhen is the spouse of Mr. Xu Wenjun. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Zhu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Xu Wenjun.

Centennial Best is owned by Golden Boomer, Perfect Bliss and Gigantic
Path as to 43%, 42% and 15%, which are in turn wholly owned by Mr. Ding
Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao, respectively. As the
Concerted Group, Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao
restrict their ability to exercise direct control over our Company by
holding their interests through Centennial Best, a common investment
holding company, and as a result Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr.
Ding Yuzhao are presumed to be a group of controlling shareholders. As
such, each of Gigantic Path and Mr. Ding Yuzhao is deemed to be
interested in the 264,131,725 Shares held by Centennial Best, and Mr.
Ding Yuzhao is deemed to be interested in the 8,314,015 Shares held by
Gigantic Path pursuant to the SFO.

Ms. Huang Cui is the spouse of Mr. Ding Yuzhao. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Huang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Ding
Yuzhao.

Bilsea International is owned as to 65% and 35% by Ms. Liu Weipeng and
Mr. Yan Xiankai, respectively. By virtue of the SFO, each of Ms. Liu and
Mr. Yan is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Bilsea
International. Ms. Liu Weipeng is the spouse of Mr. Yan Xiankai.
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Save as disclosed herein, the Directors are not aware of any
person who has, as at the date of this report (without taking into
account any options which may be granted under the share
option scheme), an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, directly or indirectly,
be interested in 5% of the issued voting shares of any other
member of the Group.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing the
Group's emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Group having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance
and comparable market standard and practices. The Company
has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Our Company has conditionally adopted the Share Option
Scheme on 6 September 2018 and which became effective on
the Listing Date. Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants of the scheme may be granted options which
entitle them to subscribe for Shares, when aggregated with
options granted under any other scheme, representing initially
not more than 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Option Scheme conditionally adopted by the written resolutions
of our Shareholders passed on 6 September 2018. The terms of
the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions the Eligible Participants (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) have had or may have made to our
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our
Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives:

() motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group;
and

(i) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-
going business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.

Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine at an exercise price determined in accordance
with paragraph (f) below to the following persons (“Eligible
Participants”):

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any Directors (including INEDs) of our Company or
any of its subsidiaries;

(i)

any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and
agents to our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and
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(c)

(iv) such other persons who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to our

Group, the assessment criteria of which are:

(@a) contribution to the development and
performance of our Group;

(bb) quality of work performed for our Group;

(cc) initiative and commitment in performing his
duties; and

(dd) length of service or contribution to our Group.

Acceptance of an offer of options

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of
the options duly signed by the grantee, together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, is received by our
Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such
payment shall in no circumstances be refundable. Any offer
for grant of an option to subscribe for Shares may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of
a board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or
an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly
stated in the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

Subject to paragraphs (I), (m), (n), (o) and (p), an option
shall be exercised in whole or in part and, other than where
it is exercised to the full extent outstanding, shall be
exercised in integral multiples of such number of Shares as
shall represent one board lot for dealing in Shares on the
Stock Exchange for the time being, by the grantee by
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68

giving notice in writing to our Company stating that the
option is thereby exercised and the number of Shares in
respect of which it is exercised. Each such notice must be
accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
exercise price for the Shares in respect of which the notice
is given.

Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and the
remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the
certificate by the auditors to our Company or the
independent financial adviser as the case may be pursuant
to paragraph (r), our Company shall allot and issue the
relevant number of Shares to the grantee credited as fully
paid and issue to the grantee share certificates in respect
of the Shares so allotted.

The exercise of any option shall be subject to our
Shareholders in general meeting approving any necessary
increase in the authorised share capital of our Company.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all option to be granted (including Shares
in respect of which options, whether exercised or still
outstanding, have already been granted) under the Share
Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue on the Listing Date (but
taking account of any Shares which may be issued under
the exercise of the Over-allotment Option), being
40,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Limit"”), excluding for this
purpose Shares which would have been issuable pursuant
to options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme (or any other share option
schemes of our Company). Subject to the issue of a circular
by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders in
general meeting and/or such other requirements
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prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the
Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in
issue (the “New Scheme Limit") as at the date of the
approval by our Shareholders in general meeting;
and/or

(i) grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to Eligible
Participants specifically identified by the Board. The
circular issued by our Company to our Shareholders
shall contain a generic description of the specified
Eligible Participants who may be granted such
options, the number and terms of the options to be
granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified Eligible Participants with an explanation as
to how the options serve such purpose, the
information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing
Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of our Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time (the “Maximum Limit”). No options shall be
granted under any schemes of our Company (including the
Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the Maximum
Limit being exceeded. The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted shall be adjusted,
in such manner as the auditors of our Company or an
approved independent financial adviser shall certify to be
appropriate, fair and reasonable in the event of any
alteration in the capital structure of our Company in
accordance with paragraph (r) below whether by way of
capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation, sub-division
of shares or reduction of the share capital of our Company
but in no event shall exceed the limit prescribed in this
paragraph.
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(e) Maximum number of options to any one individual

70

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of our Company (including both exercised, outstanding
options and Shares which were the subject of options
which have been granted and accepted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other scheme of our Company but
subsequently cancelled (the “Cancelled Shares”) to each
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date
of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to:

(i) the issue of a circular by our Company containing the
identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of
and terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such participant) the
information as required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing
Rules; and

(i) the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting
and/or other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time with such Eligible
Participant and his close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the participant is
a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
numbers and terms (including the exercise price) of
options to be granted to such participant must be
fixed before our Shareholders’ approval and the date
of the Board meeting at which the Board proposes to
grant the options to such Eligible Participant shall be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price of the Shares. The
Board shall forward to such Eligible Participant an
offer document in such form as the Board may from
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time to time determine or, alternatively, documents

accompanying the offer document which state,

among other things:

(aa)

(bb)

the Eligible Participant’s name, address and
occupation;

the date on which an option is offered to an
Eligible Participant which must be a date on
which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities;

the date upon which an offer for an option must
be accepted,;

the date upon which an option is deemed to be
granted and accepted in accordance with

paragraph (c);

the number of Shares in respect of which the
option is offered,;

the subscription price and the manner of
payment of such price for the Shares on and in
consequence of the exercise of the option;

the date of the notice given by the grantee in
respect of the exercise of the option; and

the method of acceptance of the option which
shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be
as set out in paragraph (c).
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(f)

(9)

72

Price of shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion
shall determine, save that such price will not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.
Granting options to connected persons
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
our Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by
the INEDs (excluding any INED who is the grantee of the
options). If the Board proposes to grant options to a
substantial shareholder or any INED or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) which will result
in the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant:

(i)  representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and
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(i)

having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million
or such other sum as may be from time to time
provided under the Listing Rules, based on the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be
subject to the approval of our INEDs as referred to in
this paragraph, the issue of a circular by our Company
and the approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting on a poll at which the grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of our Company shall abstain from
voting in favour, and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time.
Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant
of such options shall be taken as a poll.

The circular to be issued by our Company to our

Shareholders pursuant to the above paragraph shall

contain the following information:

(i)

(iif)

the details of the number and terms (including the
exercise price) of the options to be granted to each
selected Eligible Participant, which must be fixed
before our Shareholders’ meeting and the date of the
Board meeting for proposing such further grant shall
be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price of such options;

a recommendation from our INEDs (excluding any
INED who is the grantee of the options) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting;

the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(c) and (d)
and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules; and

the information required under Rule 2.17 of the
Listing Rules.

(ii)
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(h) Restrictions on the times of grant of options

74

A grant of options may not be made after inside
information has come to our Company’s knowledge until
such information has been announced pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO. In
particular, no options may be granted during the period
commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier

of:

(i)  the date of the Board meeting (such date to first be
notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the
Listing Rules) for the approval of our Company'’s
results for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other
interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules); and

(i) the deadline for our Company to publish an
announcement of the results for any year, or half-year,
or quarterly or any other interim period (whether or
not required under the Listing Rules); and ending on
the date of actual publication of the results
announcement.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option is personal to the grantee. No grantee shall in
any way sell, transfer, assign, charge, mortgage, encumber
or otherwise dispose of or create any interest whatsoever
in favour of any third party over or in relation to any option
or attempt so to do (save that the grantee may nominate a
nominee in whose name the Shares issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme may be registered). Any breach of
the foregoing by a grantee shall entitle our Company to
cancel any outstanding options or any part thereof granted
to such grantee.
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(k)

0]

Time of exercise of option and duration of the
share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date
upon which the option is deemed to be granted and
accepted and prior to the expiry of ten years from that
date. The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised will be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the
Shareholders of our Company (the “Adoption Date").
Subject to earlier termination by our Company in general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can
be exercised.

Rights on ceasing employment/death
If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible
Participant:

() by any reason other than death, ill-health, injury,
disability or termination of his/her relationship with
our Company and/or any of its subsidiaries on one or
more of the grounds specified in paragraph (m)
below, the grantee may exercise the option up to the
entitlement of the grantee as at the date of cessation
(to the extent not already exercised) in whole or in
part within a period of one month (or such longer
period as the Board may determine) from such
cessation which date shall be the last actual working
day with our Company or the relevant subsidiary
whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not, failing
which it will lapse (or such longer period as our
Company may determine); or

()
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(i) by reason of death, ill-health, injury or disability (all
evidenced to the satisfaction of the Board) and none
of the events which would be a ground for
termination of his relationship with our Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries under paragraph (m) has
occurred, the grantee or, as appropriate, his personal
representative(s) may exercise the option in full (to
the extent not already exercised) within a period of 12
months (or such longer period as the Board may
determine) from the date of cessation of being an
Eligible Participant or death.

(m) Rights on dismissal

(n)

76

If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible
Participant on the grounds that he has been guilty of
serious misconduct, or has committed any act of
bankruptcy or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangements or composition with his/her creditors
generally, or has been convicted of any criminal offence
involving his/her integrity or honesty, his/her option will
lapse and not be exercisable after the date of termination
of his/her employment.

Rights on takeover

If a general offer is made to all our Shareholders (or all
such Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any
person controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting
in concert with the offeror (as defined in the Takeovers
Code)) and such offer becomes or is declared
unconditional during the option period of the relevant
option, the grantee of an option shall be entitled to
exercise the option in full (to the extent not already
exercised) at any time within 14 days after the date on
which the offer becomes or is declared unconditional.
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(o)

(p)

Rights on winding-up

In the event that a notice is given by our Company to its
members to convene a general meeting for the purposes
of considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution to
voluntarily wind-up our Company, our Company shall
forthwith give notice thereof to all grantees and
thereupon, each grantee (or his legal personal
representative(s)) shall be entitled to exercise all or any of
his options (to the extent not already exercised) at any
time not later than two business days prior to the proposed
general meeting of our Company referred to above by
giving notice in writing to our Company, accompanied by
a remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the Shares in respect of which the
notice is given, whereupon our Company shall as soon as
possible and, in any event, no later than the business day
immediately prior to the date of the proposed general
meeting, allot the relevant Shares to the grantee credited
as fully paid.

Rights on compromise or arrangement between
our company and its members or creditors

If a compromise or arrangement between our Company
and its members or creditors is proposed for the purposes
of a scheme for the reconstruction of our Company or its
amalgamation with any other companies pursuant to the
laws of the jurisdiction in which our Company was
incorporated, our Company shall give notice to all the
grantees of the options on the same day as it gives notice
of the meeting to its members or creditors summoning the
meeting to consider such a compromise or arrangement
and any grantee may by notice in writing to our Company
accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
aggregate subscription price for our Shares in respect of
which the notice is given (such notice to be received by
our Company no later than two business days prior to the
proposed meeting), exercise the option to its full extent or
to the extent specified in the notice and our Company
shall as soon as possible and in any event no later than the
business day immediately prior to the date of the
proposed meeting, allot and issue such number of Shares
to the grantee which falls to be issued on such exercise of
the option credited as fully paid and register the grantee
as holder thereof.
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(a)

78

With effect from the date of such meeting, the rights of all
grantees to exercise their respective options shall forthwith
be suspended. Upon such compromise or arrangement
becoming effective, all options shall, to the extent that
they have not been exercised, lapse and determine. If for
any reason such compromise or arrangement does not
become effective and is terminated or lapses, the rights of
grantees to exercise their respective options shall with
effect from such termination be restored in full but only
upon the extent not already exercised and shall become
exercisable.

Ranking of shares

Our Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option
will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (or any other person) as the
holder thereof. Subject to the aforesaid, Shares allotted
and issued on the exercise of options will rank pari passu
and shall have the same voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights (including those arising on liquidation) as at
attached to the other fully-paid Shares in issue on the date
of exercise, save that they will not rank for any dividend or
other distribution declared or recommended or resolved
to be paid or made by reference to a record date falling
on or before the date of exercise.
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(r)

Effect of alterations to capital

In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company whilst any option may become or remains
exercisable, whether by way of capitalisation issue, rights
issue, consolidation, subdivision or reduction of share
capital of our Company, such corresponding alterations (if
any) shall be made in the number of Shares subject to any
outstanding options and/or the subscription price per
Share of each outstanding option as the auditors of our
Company or an independent financial adviser shall certify
in writing to the Board to be in their/his opinion fair and
reasonable in compliance with Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing
Rules and the note thereto and the supplementary
guidance attached to the letter from the Stock Exchange
dated 5 September 2005 to all issuers relating to share
option schemes. The capacity of the auditors of our
Company or the approved independent financial adviser,
as the case may be, in this paragraph is that of experts and
not arbitrators and their certificate shall, in the absence of
manifest error, be final and conclusive and binding on our
Company and the grantees.

Any such alterations will be made on the basis that a
grantee shall have the same proportion of the equity
capital of our Company (as interpreted in accordance with
the supplementary guidance attached to the letter from
the Stock Exchange dated 5 September 2005 to all issuers
relating to share option schemes) for which any grantee of
an option is entitled to subscribe pursuant to the options
held by him before such alteration provided that no such
alteration shall be made if the effect of which would be to
enable a Share to be issued at less than its nominal value.
The issue of securities as consideration in a transaction is
not to be regarded as a circumstance requiring any such
alterations.
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(s)

80

Expiry of option

An option shall lapse automatically and shall not be

exercisable (to the extent not already exercised) on the

earliest of:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

the date of expiry of the option as may be determined
by the Board;

the expiry of any of the periods referred to in
paragraphs (), (m), (n); or

the date upon which the scheme of arrangement of
our Company referred to in paragraph (p) becomes
effective;

subject to paragraph (o), the date of commencement
of the winding-up of our Company;

the date upon which the grantee ceases to be an
Eligible Participant by reason of such grantee’s
resignation from the employment of our Company or
any of its subsidiaries or the termination of his or her
employment or contract on the grounds that he or
she has been guilty of serious misconduct, or has
committed any act of bankruptcy or is unable to pay
his or her debts or has become insolvent or has made
any arrangement or has compromised with his or her
creditors generally, or has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his or her integrity or
honesty or has been in breach of contract. A
resolution of the Board to the effect that the
employment of a grantee has or has not been
terminated on one or more of the grounds specified
in this paragraph shall be conclusive; or

the date upon which the Board shall exercise our
Company’s right to cancel the option at any time
after the grantee commits a breach of paragraph (i)
above or the options are cancelled in accordance
with paragraph (u) below.
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(t)

Alteration of the share option scheme
The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect

by resolution of the Board except that:

(i)

any alteration to the advantage of the grantees or the
Eligible Participants (as the case may be) in respect of
the matters contained in Rule 17.03 of the Listing
Rules; and

any material alteration to the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme or any change to the terms
of options granted, shall first be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting provided that if the
proposed alteration shall adversely affect any option
granted or agreed to be granted prior to the date of
alteration, such alteration shall be further subject to
the grantees’ approval in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme. The amended terms
and any adjustment to be made to the exercise price
of the Share Option Scheme shall still comply with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the supplemental
guidance of 5 September 2005 and any future
guidance or interpretation of the Listing Rules from
time to time and any change to the authority of the
Board in relation to any alteration to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

(u) Cancellation of options
Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised

must be approved by the grantees of the relevant options

in writing. For the avoidance of doubt, such approval is not

required in the event that any option is cancelled pursuant
to paragraph (i).
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(v) Termination of the share option scheme

Our Company may by resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme
and in such event no further option shall be offered but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any option granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

Options granted prior to such termination but not yet
exercised at the time of termination shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.

Administration of the board
The Share Option Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board whose decision as to all

(w)

matters arising in relation to the Share Option Scheme or
its interpretation or effect (save as otherwise provided
herein) shall be final and binding on all parties.

(x) Present status of the Share Option Scheme
As at 31 December 2018 and to the date of this report, no
option had been granted or to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and the development of the society. Details of
the Group's development, performance and operation in the
environmental aspect will be set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our Group has adopted internal control and risk management
policies to monitor the on-going compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. As far as the Board is concerned, our Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material aspects.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, AND KEY
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our Group is in good relationship with its employees and we
have policies in place to ensure our employees’ remuneration,
and welfare package as competitive among other players in the
industry and they receive adequate continuous professional
training. Our Group also maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers, without whom the production and
operation success will not be guaranteed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2018.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group's major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 49.9%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 78.7%
Sales

— the largest customer 24.0%
— five largest customers in aggregate 89.8%

Save as Bilsea International and Seabridge Bunkering Pte Ltd
(“Seabridge”) disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in the five largest

suppliers or customers.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets during this financial year
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION BFEBAERS

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December A8 i BEIZE 2018412 A 31 B #ifI -
2018, the Group had the following continuing connected ZAEEGLATEHERESS !
transactions:

Annual actual
transaction
Annual cap amount
for the year for the year
ended ended
Name of relevant Connected relationship 31 December 31 December
connected persons with the Group Nature of transactions 2018 2018
BE2018%F BE2018F
128318 12A31H
IEFER LLFER
FRREAL AR RAKENHERE XHME FELR ERXS 28
US$'000 US$'000
TEL TET
Exempt
B#e
Bilsea International Holdings ~ Note Property leasing N/a N/a
Pte Ltd ("Bilsea Holdings")
Bilsea International fifet MERE NEF TERA
Holdings Pte Ltd
([ Bilsea Holdings )
Mr. Ding Xiaosheng Mr. Ding Xiaosheng is the brother  Employment contract N/a N/a
of Mr. Ding Xiaoli, an executive
Director and a Controlling
Shareholder
TEERE TEZERERRATESRER  ERAH TEm @R
BRT B L 4ERER
Non-exempt
TE#HR
Bilsea International Note Provision of asphalt 10,500 10,263
tanker chartering
services
Bilsea International fifat TRALES M A PR 10,500 10,263
Seabridge Note Purchase of bunker 2,300 2,254
services
Seabridge fist BEMRIRS 2,300 2,254
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Note: Seabridge (mainly engages in the provision of bunker services), is wholly-
owned by Bilsea Holdings, which is in turn wholly owned by Bilsea
International (mainly engages in asphalt trading and provision of
transportation services), which is in turn owned as to 65% and 35% by Ms.
Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan Xiankai (the spouse of Ms. Liu Weipeng),
respectively. As Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan Xiankai are both the
directors of some of our subsidiaries, Seabridge, Bilsea Holdings and
Bilsea International are associates of each of Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr.
Yan Xiankai, and are connected persons of our Group at the subsidiary
level. As at the date of this report, our Company is owned as to 6.75% by
Bilsea International.

Bilxin Tenancy Agreement

A tenancy agreement (the “Bilxin Tenancy Agreement”) is
entered into between Bilsea Holdings as landlord and the
Company’s subsidiary Bilxin Shipping Group Pte Ltd (“Bilxin
Shipping”) as tenant, under which Bilsea Holdings agreed to
lease a property located at No. 3 Church Street #12-03 Samsung
Hub, Singapore 049483 to Bilxin Shipping, for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2018 and ending on 31
December 2018 for office use. Pursuant to the Bilxin Tenancy
Agreement, the monthly rental payable to Bilsea Holdings shall
be in the sum of US$2,000 (exclusive of the relevant goods and
services tax in Singapore). The monthly rental under the Bilxin
Tenancy Agreement was determined on an arm'’s length basis
between Bilsea Holdings and Bilxin Shipping. Total rental
payable by the Group under the Bilxin Tenancy Agreement
amounted to approximately US$24,000 (equivalent to
HK$187,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding Xiaosheng

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng (who is the brother of Mr. Ding Xiaoli) is an
associate of Mr. Ding Xiaoli, an executive Director and a
Controlling Shareholder, hence Mr. Ding Xiaosheng is a
connected person of our Company under Rule 14A.12(2)(a) of
the Listing Rules. On 1 December 2017, Mr. Ding Xiaosheng
entered into a written employment contract (the “Employment
Agreement with Mr. Ding Xiaosheng") with Fujian Xinyuan
Xinlanhai Import and Export Trade Co., Ltd, the Company’s
subsidiary, as vice president for a term ending on 31 December
2020. The aggregate salary paid by the Group to Mr. Ding
Xiaosheng were approximately US$68,000 (equivalent to
HK$530,000) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Pii3E : Seabridge (£ Z 1t FRHMEIBRTE) A Bilsea
Holdings® & # A & % HHBilsea
International (F 2 EEE & 5 RIBHEH
fR7%) 2 & %A - M Bilsea International 7 7l
H Liu Weipeng Z + K Yan Xiankai 5£ 4 (Liu
Weipeng 2Z T #I it 8 ) #E75 65% 1 35% ° A&
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Bilsea Master Service Agreement

On 6 September 2018, the Company's subsidiary, Shun Yuen
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shun Yuen HK"), as service
provider, entered into a master service agreement (the “Bilsea
Master Service Agreement”) with Bilsea International, for a
term ending on 31 December 2020, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to provide asphalt tanker chartering services to
Bilsea International and/or its subsidiaries (the “Bilsea Group”).
The service fees payable by Bilsea Group to the Group under
the Bilsea Master Service Agreement were determined after
arm’s length negotiation between the parties thereto with
reference to (i) reputation of the customer; (ii) duration of
charter period; (iii) the prevailing market circumstances; (iv) past
business relationship with the customer; (v) the financing cost of
our vessel; (vi) cost of shipbuilding and operation; and (vii) cargo
quantity. Taking into account that the Group has already
provided asphalt tanker chartering services to Bilsea Group in
the past and that provision of such services has offered stable
and considerable profits to the Group historically, the Directors
consider that it is in the Group's interests to continue the
relationship with Bilsea Group and to provide the asphalt tanker
chartering services under the Bilsea Master Service Agreement
to Bilsea Group after the Listing.

As for the sales amount, for the year ended 31 December 2018,
the cap for these continuing connected transactions in total was
US$10.5 million, and the actual transaction amount for the year
was approximately US$10.3 million.

Seabridge Master Supply Agreement

On 6 September 2018, Shun Yuen HK, as purchaser, entered
into a master supply agreement (the “Seabridge Master
Supply Agreement”) with Seabridge, for a term ending on 31
December 2020, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase bunker services from Seabridge. The fees payable by
the Group to Seabridge under the Seabridge Master Supply
Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the parties thereto with reference to market rate,
bunker quantity and the location of the port. Taking into
account that Seabridge has already provided quality bunker
services to the Group in the past, our Directors consider that it
is in the Group's interests to continue our relationship with
Seabridge and to source bunker services from Seabridge after
the Listing.
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As for the purchase amount, for the year ended 31 December
2018, the cap for these continuing connected transactions in
total was approximately US$2.3 million, and the actual
transaction amount for the year was approximately US$2.3
million.

For details of the above continuing connected transactions,
please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The transactions under the Bilxin Tenancy Agreement and
Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding Xiaosheng constitute de
minimis continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Bilxin
Tenancy Agreement and Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding
Xiaosheng and the transactions thereunder are exempted from
the reporting, announcement, annual review, circular and the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions
for the year as disclosed in note 35(a) to the consolidated
financial statements also constituted exempted connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018,
our INEDs have reviewed the above non-exempt continuing
connected transactions under each of the Bilsea Master Service
Agreement and Seabridge Master Supply Agreement and have
confirmed that such transactions were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  on normal or better commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the agreements for such transactions,
the terms of which are fair and reasonable, and are in the
interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
all of its non-exempt continuing connected transactions.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, all the Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company, having reviewed the
non-exempt continuing connected transactions and the findings
provided by the Company’s internal audit, confirmed that such
transactions had been entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Company; (b) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (c) according to the respective agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company's auditors were engaged to report on the
Group’s non-exempt continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter

Listing Rules”

containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the non-
exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above.

The Directors confirm that the auditors have confirmed the
matter set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the period from
the Listing Date to 31 December 2018, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are
required to be disclosed by the Company in accordance with
the provisions concerning the disclosure of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of
the Company’s issued shares throughout the period from the
Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that competed or
might compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such

person had or might have with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

As set out in the Prospectus, the Company has adopted, among
others, the following measures to manage the conflict of
interests arising from competing business and to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders: (i) the Company will disclose
decisions on matters reviewed by the INEDs relating to
compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-competition
dated 6 September 2018 entered into by the controlling
shareholders in favour of the Company competing interests
(“Non-competition Undertaking”) in the annual report; and (ii)
the controlling shareholders will make an annual declaration on
compliance with their Non-competition Undertaking in the
annual report.

The Board would like to clarify that there were no conflicts of
interests between the controlling shareholders and the Group
arising from competing business for the year ended 31 March
2018. As such, the controlling shareholders confirmed that they
have complied with their undertaking under the Non-
competition Undertaking.

The INEDs have reviewed and confirmed that the controlling
shareholders have complied with the non-competition
undertaking under the Non-competition Undertaking.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling
shareholders had a material interest subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 December 2018, as notified by the Company's
compliance adviser, China Industrial Securities International
Capital Limited (the "Compliance Adviser"”), except for the
compliance adviser agreement dated 18 April 2018 entered into
between the Company and the Compliance Adviser, neither the
Compliance Adviser nor its directors, employees or close
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any interests
in relation to the Company.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
RSM Hong Kong who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company'’s securities.

By order of the Board
DING Xiaoli
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xin
Yuan Enterprises Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) set out on pages 97 to 188, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BAREEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FHREFTFEEBERMPINEEHE 7
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the AHKRHGAMBRRNBARAEEN
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These  EIF o L EIH AR MIBTEESZESH
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the MHEXNEHEEBRETRIEN - R
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming &% ELEERHEFHEZR - FMEH
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion  HJEIRE T =8 AMAREEE ¢

on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is the

impairment assessment of vessels:

Key Audit Matter
HARETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNESFNAEEFARET SR

Impairment assessment of vessels

Fra AR R (B BT A

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRAlAR & B SRR M RE7 -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s vessels
amounted to US$184,156,000, representing 87%
of the Group's total assets. They are key assets
held by the Group and drive its significant cash
flows from the asphalt tanker chartering services.
The Group reviews the carrying amount of its
vessels at the end of each reporting period if
impairment indicators are present.
M20185F12A31H - EBERENMMAERE
184,156,000 7T * 16 HEEBBEEST% ° %F
A BEBRAENIEEE  YEEFSMEMR
BEDREARTRE - EEERSHBEHRF
BIEMMNREERSFERETR -

The impairment assessment requires
management to consider both internal and
external sources of information, in determining
whether there is any indication that any vessel
may have been impaired. The assessment of
whether impairment indicators are present
requires significant management judgement.
Accordingly, we considered this area a key audit
matter.
MEFEEREEEEEERTANRBREM
N AR A BE B RUE RS Z B AR R SNRE IR © 5F
EREAFERETFRFZEANEEEHE
it - BB AU B BEREEE -

QOur procedures in relation to management'’s
impairment assessment included:

HMBEREEEREFENERF BT

— Understand management'’s impairment assessment
process;

— BEMEEERRENLBIE

— Review profitability analysis for each vessel, current
vessel price and any changes in time and voyage
charter rates; and

— HBHSEMMOBAED DN - RAEMMERBIAR
HENMEHEHERNERES &

— Challenge management'’s assessment of whether
indicators of impairment are present.

— KBEEEURSFERETRNFE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included in
the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee, regarding among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Liu Fung Yi.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEeEBEmR
For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 2018412 A31 HILFE
2018 2017
2018 2017
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FET
Revenue &= 8 42,716 33,727
Cost of sales HEK A (28,225) (20,458)
Gross profit EX 14,491 13,269
Other income =N 9 8,222 332
Administrative expenses TR 2 (3,864) (2,095)
Other operating expenses Hm @R (7,110) (350)
Exchange gains/(losses), net PEH Uezss(E18) 558 343 (1,543)
Profit from operations KEEEN 12,082 9,613
Finance costs B TS A AN 11 (5,469) (3,581)
Profit before tax BRBL AR R 6,613 6,032
Income tax expense FriSfiA > 12 - -
Profit for the year FEREF 13 6,613 6,032
Attributable to: LT &RIEREA
Owners of the Company i/NCIEZ V=N 6,613 5,489
Non-controlling interests JEPEALRE S - 543
6,613 6,032
Earnings per share BRER 16
Basis (cents per share) EAR(FARN) 2.02 D20
Diluted (cents per share) B8 (ZARA) N/AT~E H N/A T3 FA
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEaRkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

2018 2017
2018 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
TER FET
Profit for the year FERHEF 6,613 6,032
Other comprehensive income: Hh2mEUWA :
Item that may be reclassified to AJRERE AT D MR IR B -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEGINEERIIE R =58
foreign operations (4) -
Other comprehensive income RBENFREMZEERA
for the year, net of tax (4) -
Total comprehensive income FRE2HEBALE
for the year 6,609 6,032
Attributable to: LU &I MEL -
Owners of the Company RARHEB A 6,609 5,489
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR RE 2R - 543
6,609 6,032
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

= A A
me Bk R
As at 31 December 2018 72018412 A 31 H
2018 2017
2018 2017 &
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - WE KR 17 184,190 157,547
Current assets REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTA 18 119 -
Inventories TE 19 949 633
Trade receivables g 5 e FIE 20 1,952 1,101
Other receivables, deposits and JEWFIA - e K
prepayments TEfTFRIE 21 4,199 892
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITIFR 22(a) 1,345 1,324
Bank and cash balances RIT IR & 46k 22(b) 18,260 2,536
Total current assets RBEEHAE 26,824 6,486
TOTAL ASSETS EERE 211,014 164,033
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEXrpaE
Share capital [N 23 4,000 530
Reserves G 25 95,104 73,905
Total equity FEAEE 99,104 74,435
LIABILITIES &
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank loans RITER 26 32,101 52,811
Finance lease payables B ETHE B RIE 27 56,760 10,978
Total non-current liabilities FREBBERRE 88,861 63,789
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A IR &R

As at 31 December 2018 72018412 A 31 H

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B aE FET FET

Current liabilities REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmIA 18 167 350
Contract liabilities EREE 28 869 -
Bank loans RITERK 26 7,330 10,880
Finance lease payables RERERNRIE 27 11,561 2,499
Trade payables g5 EMFIE 29 1,473 1,050
Other payables and accruals Hip et Ia Kk et B B 30 1,649 10,440
Advance from related companies BN A1 85K 31 - 590
Total current liabilities REEERE 23,049 25,809
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ## K& E#AE 211,014 164,033

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2019 and are  JA2019F3 A2 EEE 2t E - W B

signed on its behalf by: THATREREZ
Xu Wenjun #& X5 Ding Xiaoli T B I
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALARRARE
Foreign
currency Non-
Share  Share  Capital  Merger translation Retained controlling ~ Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  Profits Total interests  equity
heng FER

B RGEE &5HE AHEE  BE REEN 4% B RR4R
USH000  USF000  USS000  USS000  USS000  US§000  US§'000  US§000  USH000

Tar Txr Txn TR T Tir Tin T3 T3¢

At 1 January 2017 ROTETATE 10 - 9,310 359 - 3691 13,370 431 13,801
Total comprehensive income ~ FREEMALS

for the year - - - - - 5489 5489 543 6,032
Reorganisation (Note 23(i) B4 (FEE23) 16 - - 474 - - 490 - 490
Shares issued to ultimate parent ~ FEAR A 7ZTHRA

(Note 23() (RizE23) 156 46,18 - - - - ol - ot
Shares issued to then non- mIEERBRE TR

controlling shareholders (F3E 230i)

(Note 23(vi) 48 8,888 - - - 491) 8,445 (974) 741
Changes nequityfor e year £ AfERE%) W S - S S0 [B) s
At 31 December 2017 ROTE12A318 50 55073 9,310 833 - 8689 74435 - 443
At 1 January 2018 R018E1 A8 530 55,073 9,310 833 - 8,689 74435 - 74435
Total comprehensive income ~ FR2AUALE

for the year = - - = @ 6613 6,609 - 6,609
Share capitalisation (Note 23(vii) B &Y. (K 23(vii) 2470 (2,470) - - = - - - -
Shares issued under the Global BB ZIKEE&(THIRT

Offering (Note 23((x) (M5 23() 1,000 17,060 - - - - 18,060 - 18,060
Change inequity for the year ~ ERiERE 3470 14,590 - - @) 6613 24,669 - 24,609
At 31 December 2018 R018EF12731 B 4000 69,663 9,310 833 (@ 15302 99,104 - 99,104
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 2018412 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMERENE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R B A A 6,613 6,032
Adjustments for: TP EEL AR
Bank interest income RITF B U A (103) (11)
Depreciation e 7,299 5,545
Gain on disposal of derivative HETESmT AR
financial instrument (1) -
Fair value (gains)/losses on derivative TEeMIT AATE
financial instruments (Wzs),/ E518 (302) 350
Finance costs B TSR AR 5,469 3,581
Unrealised exchange (gains)/losses SIRNE N () BB (406) 1,535
Operating profit before working EIE R B A R A
capital changes 18,569 17,032
Increase in inventories FEILM (316) (633)
Increase in trade receivables E 5 e Ia g (514) (1,101
Decrease in contract assets BHEERD 94 -
(Increase)/Decrease in other HibfEUNATE « IRE& K&
receivables, deposits and FEfR FRIE (8 0) R
prepayments (3,307) 875
Increase in contract liabilities BB EEM 438 -
Increase in trade payables B S R IEE N 423 235
(Decrease)/Increase in other payables HEm e mIE R ETE F
and accruals (R A>), 380 (8,791) 7,425
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIH S 6,596 23,833
Interest and bank charges paid ERMERBITFEE (2,591) (2,901)
Finance lease charges paid EfNREHEER (2,878) (712)
Net cash generated from operating KEEFTSIRE FE
activities 1,127 20,220
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &£ 2018412 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
20184 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFHERENE
ACTIVITIES
Increase in pledged bank deposits R RITIEFIG N (21) (872
Increase in time deposit JE BRTF SR8 AN (6,000) -
(Increase)/Decrease in restricted bank TR EIRITAE R (18 H0), R
balances (166) 477
Interest received 2 W F B 103 11
Proceeds/(Payment) on disposals of HEMTESRTA
derivative financial instruments FTS I8,/ (130 1 (433)
Purchases of property, plant and BEYWE  WENMRE
equipment (7,960) (59,226)
Net cash used in investing activities KEESMARSFE (14,043) (60,043)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance from related companies B2k NSIEE N 3,186 16,090
Bank loans raised BARITER - 36,000
Drawdown from finance leases femEHE T H 37,618 -
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS A 18,060 -
Repayment of bank loans EHRRITER (23,854) (9,969)
Repayment of finance lease payables BEEHSEMNKIE (8,756) (2,499)
Repayment to related companies M BaHE A mlE K (3,776) -
Net cash generated from financing BB EEBMEE e FE
activities 22,478 39,622
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 2018412 A31 HILFE

2018 2017
2018 2017 &
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BRENBEELZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i CRd) B8 9,562 (207)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes JME[E XS &) F 2 (4) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BR1B1ENRER
AT 1 JANUARY NEZEY 863 1,064
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R12A31BHNBEER
AT 31 DECEMBER BEEEY 10,421 863
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH ReRBESEEBYUIW
EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances R1T IR R 18,260 2,536
Less: Restricted bank balances B R EISR T4 8k (B EE 22(b))
(Note 22(b)) (1,839) (1,673)
Less: Bank deposits with original maturity J&, : [REIEA BB =18 A/
beyond three months (Note 22(b)) RITF R (7 22(b)) (6,000) -
10,421 863
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company under the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands on 28 June 2016. The address of its
registered office is P.O. Box 31119, Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is 40th Floor, Sunlight Tower, No.
248 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

On 26 September 2018 (the “Listing Date”), the
Company's shares were listed (the “Listing”) on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange").

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group
are principally engaged in provision of asphalt tanker
chartering services (the “Listing Business”). Details are set
out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Centennial
Best Limited ("Centennial Best”), a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, is the ultimate parent of the
Company. Mr. Ding Xiao Li, Mr. Xu Wen Jun and Mr. Ding
Yu Zhao are the ultimate controlling parties of the
Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”).

—RER
RRATN2016F6H28AREFRE
HEARAEREHS ML -
HeF i et &P.O. Box 31119,
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands © H & /&
FTEEEMBMUATBETER
RIER 24855 (5 . 0 4048 ©

N2018FE9 A26B ([ L HER]) -
KA NEEHAELZHAR
NEI([EERZAT ) EMR ET( LT

ARPBREEBR DR - REHEK
AEENARRREMBAREE
RERHESHMEERSE (T EHE
%) o HBRNGAPHHRRM T
36 °

NN G EER A Centennial Best
Limited ([ Centennial Best]) (A&
BRESHMKIAAR) BAAF
XA RR e THILEE B
EERT EHEERRRAIRLIE
B AT (T[RRI D) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 2018412 A31 HILFE

2.

106

GROUP REORGANISATION AND BASIS OF
PREPARATION

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the
completion of the reorganisation for the purpose of the
Listing (the “Reorganisation”), the Listing Business was
carried out by companies now comprising the Group
(collectively the “Operating Companies”) which were
controlled by the Controlling Shareholders.

Immediately prior to and after the Reorganisation, the
Listing Business was and continues to be held by the
Operating Companies. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Operating Companies together with the Listing Business
were transferred to and held by the Company through
Virtue Glory Holdings Limited. The Reorganisation was
completed on 19 December 2017 and thereafter, the
Company became the holding company of the Group.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"),
consolidated financial statements also comply with the

and Interpretations. These

applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BREAFET RKETBEBHBR
HER

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Of these, the
following developments are relevant to the Group's
consolidated financial statements:

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

(i) HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39 that
relate to the recognition, classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments,
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with
the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e.
applied the classification and measurement
requirements retrospectively to instruments that have
not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already been
derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The difference
between carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017
and the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018 are
recognised in the opening retained profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

(a) BRAFMITREBITEEBHHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

3. BRENETET RGBT B BIMBR
HER (8)
(a) FRAMATREEIETBUHK

108

(Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 resulted in the following
changes to the Group's accounting policies.

(a)

(b)

Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial assets not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Measurement (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in other income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses), together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.

e  FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured
at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in
the period in which it arises.

Change in the fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in
the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

110

(c)

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
("ECL") associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &£ 2018412 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)
Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(a)

(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

3. AT REBITEBYBER
HER (8

(a)

The following table explains the original

measurement categories under HKAS 39 and the new

measurement categories under HKFRS 9 for each

BRI #TRT R A

HER (&)

TR

BERMBRELENEIR S

TARE)

TRGAREERN2018F 1 A1
BEBEemEERETES:T
ERIE9HRRATELERRIR

class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 January EEEEREERLIOTEH
2018. ¥ErE%85) -
Carrying Carrying
amount amount
Classification Classification under under
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
RiE REBEE BN
RERE e5tE8 HEER
REEBETEL MR & 2R B395 E9R
EI9HEN D E EIFNAE WERE{E W IRE{E
US$'000 US$'000
Fx FE£T
Current financial assets
hRBeRmEE
Trade receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost 1,101 1,101
B S ENGRIE B R EWGRIR BHER R
Other receivables and Loans and receivables Amortised cost 470 470
deposits
Hi R RIBRIES B R EWGRIR BER AR
Due from ultimate parent Loans and receivables Amortised cost 10 10
il e SN/ OE| IR EWGIE B
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortised cost 3,860 3,860
ReRREEEY Sk R BHK AR
Non-current financial liabilities
¥nBeHARE
Bank loans Amortised cost Amortised cost 52,811 52,811
RITER SRR AR
Finance lease payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 10,978 10,978
BMEMEENFIE B IR B
Current financial liabilities
hEEsHmae R
Derivative financial instruments FVTPL FVTPL 350 350
THESRMIA BATER AR BAFER AER
Bank loans Amortised cost Amortised cost 10,880 10,880
RITER B BHER AR
Finance lease payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,499 2,499
BMEMERMNFIE HEP AR B
Trade payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,050 1,050
B HEMNRIEA BIER AR B R
Other payables and accruals Amortised cost Amortised cost 9,912 9,912
Hih e IBERERT &R B BHER AR
Advance from related Amortised cost Amortised cost 590 590
companies
A NSIESE S B BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

3. BRENETET RGBT B BIMBR
HER (8)
(a) FRAMATREEIETBUHK

112

(Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same. The carrying amounts for all
financial liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not been
impacted by the initial application.

The Group did not designate or de-recognise any
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL at 1
January 2018.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaced HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January
2018. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening retained profits (or other
components of equity, as appropriate) and
comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to
apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

Before adoption of HKFRS 15, revenue from voyage
charter and contract of affreightment ("CoA") is
recognised on a percentage-of-completion basis,
which is determined on the time proportion method
of each individual voyage.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. EAFITIRLETEBUMER
(Continued) H2ER (&)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised goods or
service in the contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3
situations in which control of the promised goods or
service is regarded as being transferred over time:

(@) When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(b) When the entity's performance creates or
enhances an asset (for example work in progress)
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced; or

(¢ When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not
fall into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS
15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that
goods or service at a single point in time, being when
control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when the transfer of
control occurs.

HKFRS 15 does not have impact on how the Group
recognises revenue from voyage charter and CoA.
However, the adoption of HKFRS 15 would affect the
recognition and presentation of trade receivables,
contract assets and liabilities. The accounting policies
and presentation of contract assets and liabilities are
further disclosed in Note 4(f) and Note 28
respectively.

(a) BRAFMITREBITEEBHHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z 2018412 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. R#MFT:IREBTEBH KR
(Continued) S HER| ()
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) HAFIRRIETEBYE
(Continued) HAER (48)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers ERUYBBEREAUFISHRER
(Continued) EHWA(8)
The following tables summarise the estimated impact TRUAEEEHE2018F 124
of adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated BB EFEMNGEE T BEmRERM
financial statements for the year ended 31 December MR NBE BV B RELELE
2018, by comparing the amounts reported under 155 ET R E - FE Rt
HKFRS 15 in these consolidated financial statements EREUBRMRPILZE BV
with estimates of the hypothetical amounts that WEERESRI RS EE -
would have been recognised under HKAS 18 and BRI BB SR FE 1898
HKAS 11 if those superseded standards had LEBSTERE N RERD
continued to apply to 2018 instead of HKFRS 15. BE & RBHET S FELL 8 (fMax
These tables show only those line items impacted by EERENMIER A B RE
the adoption of HKFRS 15: AR E155% — & @ A 12018
F) o WEINREBBTZEXK
MERETBREENE 155
ZmIER -
Amounts
As at 31 December 2018 reported in Estimated Hypothetical
Consolidated statement accordance impact of the amounts
of financial position with  adoption of under HKAS
(extract) HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 18 and 11
REBUE RANBEBHE BEast
s HELEL %A% 18
M2018%12A31H 155 155 R1ET
R MBARR R (FER) JIHHESE HNEHER NRELHR
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FET FET
Trade receivables 5 W IE 1,952 (489) 1,463
Contract liabilities BRAERE (869) 869 -
Other payables and H A JE A FRE o
accruals st B A (1,649) (380) (2,029)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. EAFITIRLETEBUMER
(Continued) H2ER (&)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Reclassifications were made as at 1 January 2018 to
be consistent with the terminology under HKFRS 15:

Previously, contract balances relating to voyage
charter and CoA were presented in the statement of
consolidated financial statement under “Trade
receivables” or “Other payables and accruals”. To
reflect these changes in presentation, the Group has
made the following reclassification adjustments at 1
January 2018, as a result of the adoption of HKFRS
15:

Contract assets recognised in relation to voyage
charter and CoA were previously presented as “Trade
receivables”.

Contract liabilities for progress billing recognised in
relation to voyage charter and CoA were previously
presented as “Other payables and accruals”.

Trade receivables and corresponding contract
liabilities are recognised as the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue.

(a) BRAFMITREBITEEBHHK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective
The Group has not early applied new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January
2018. These new and revised HKFRSs include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

(b)

3. AT REBITEBYBER
HER (#)

EEME N RERPHFHIT R
RIETTE B KHREER
AEEVEIRFERACEME
AR R2018F1 A1H 1A 2
MBFEERBFE] REIERT
BBV IEREER - ZEHAT
RIS B BT B HRE LR
FEr e EAEEFBAN TS
I8 o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTEHR 2%
BB e AREEN
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
BB ELEAFE 165HE 20191 HA1H

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

8 (BREMHERERERZ R Q)R BE 23RMEBHEET AN M EEE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle
BERMBRELER) 2015 % 2017 B8 2 FEBGE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Group has identified some
aspects of HKFRS 16 which may have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Further details of the expected impacts are discussed
below. While the assessment has been substantially
completed for HKFRS 16, the actual impacts upon the
initial adoption of the standards may differ as the
assessment completed to date is based on the
information currently available to the Group, and
further impacts may be identified before the
standards are initially applied in the Group's interim
financial report for the six months ended 30 June
2019. The Group may also change its accounting
policy elections, including the transition options, until
the standards are initially applied in that interim
financial report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. EAFITIRLETEBUMER
(Continued) H2ER (&)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b)y SHEMERERERNIFTR

effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related
interpretations. The new standard introduces a single
accounting model for lessees. For lessees the
distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for all leases (with optional
exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets). HKFRS 16 carries forward the
accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS 17
substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore
continue to classify leases as operating or financing
leases.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

Based on a preliminary assessment, the standard will
affect primarily the accounting for the Group's
operating leases. The Group's office property leases
are currently classified as operating leases and the
lease payments (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Under HKFRS
16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a
liability at the present value of the future minimum
lease payments and recognise a corresponding right-
of-use asset for these leases. The interest expense on
the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use
asset will be recognised in profit or loss. The Group's
assets and liabilities will increase and the timing of
expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRI RZEITE BT KR
(Continued) HEH (&)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b) EBEMEERERPFHE R

118

effective (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As disclosed in Note 34, the Group's future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases for its office properties amounted to
approximately US$283,000 as at 31 December 2018.
These leases are expected to be recognised as lease
liabilities, with corresponding right-of-use assets,
once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The amounts will be
adjusted for the effects of discounting and the
transition reliefs available to the Group.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets, the Group expects that the
transition adjustments to be made upon the initial
adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material. However,
the expected changes in accounting policies as
described above could have a material impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements from 2019
onwards.

HK(IFRIC) 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The interpretation of HKAS 12 Income Taxes sets out
how to apply that standard when there is uncertainty
about income tax treatments. Entities are required to
determine whether uncertain tax treatments should
be assessed separately or as a group depending on
which approach will better predict the resolution of
the uncertainties. Entities will have to assess whether
it is probable that a tax authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. If yes, the accounting
treatment will be consistent with the entity’'s income
tax filings. If not, however, entities are required to
account for the effects of the uncertainty using either
the most likely outcome or expected value method
depending on which method is expected to better
predict its resolution.

The Group has assessed that the new interpretation is

not likely to have significant impact on the results and
financial position of the Group.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

RETEEMBREEA

(#8)
ERMBREENFE16FEE
(&)

SANFTEE 34 FTi B8 - 520184
12A31H AEERERLY
ERTAREEEHEEETH
EEARMERAERENA
283,0003 7T o H B I 5 %
A6 — A 2S5 HE
FEHEERAEERRFE I
RIEENEREEE - B@ES
BT ETERAEE R A
K BB L BEE D A -

hERAHEABEAFTHREEE
Oh REBEBH  BXRWNE
IR S ERIE 165 E T
EHRBEABETBEKX -
AT PR BRI TE AR
B RE I A E B 2019F B/
REVBRRELEEATE -

BER(BRMEBERERERE
E)RBIEAEHREENT
HE
FRGEAF125RMEHRA
REEIIRNTFEMSHEEN
THEEEREAZERNT
N ERABTRAEERNK
BRI EIHEE R IR R IR (1R
F- B3R 77 7% 5 BE B 4 TR B
TR EME) - B
ARG HEB RS AT RERR
THEERRIARE » HiZX
SHRESTAZERNTEF
MR AMKHIER - ZE
BRIZARMAAEERKNER
IR B EE (RFWIRTT AR
HIRE & 4F PRI ELBOR DT SR 1M 7B )
B EEMENFEAR

AEBZFHHRSHEREIAN
A]BE AN £R [ ) S48 I B IR
MELBBATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g.
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

120

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company'’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statements of financial
position and consolidated statements of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the

Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Foreign currency translation

122

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
"functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in United
States dollars (“USD"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity's
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

4. FESTBEE)

(b) INEBRE (B)
(i) FERENEE
FIEREEERBNEE R
BRI EB A

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities that have a functional currency

different from the Company's presentation
currency are translated into the Company's
presentation currency as follows:

RIRARRH2NEE -
BRATTABER/ARR

Al 2315

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of — MNEFBEARAKRET
financial position presented are translated WEENMBEBNEAE

at the closing rate at the date of that

B SRR B B

statement of financial position; WhERBE ;

— Income and expenses are translated at — W TREARNESE
average exchange rates for the period T}'ﬁl 3 (BRIEZ T
(unless this average is not a reasonable RWIHERSGEH
approximation of the cumulative effect of LTTET;%J@@E’]

the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and
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— All resulting exchange differences are — FFERWELEMER
recognised in other comprehensive income EEHARNEMEEY

and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.
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On consolidation, exchange differences arising REEEREE  ABE 1%
from the translation of monetary items that form REBIINERFIRE L —
part of the net investment in foreign entities are DR E¥IER ﬁ'ﬁEEEEm:

recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Property, plant and equipment

124

(i)

(i)

Vessels
Vessels are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Vessels (other than the dry-docking component)
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 25 years, after taking
into account the estimated residual values. The
estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.

Upon acquisition of a vessel, the components of
the vessel which are required to be replaced at
the next dry-docking are identified and their
costs are depreciated over the period to the
next estimated dry-docking date. Costs incurred
on subsequent dry-docking of the vessels are
capitalised and depreciated over the period to
the next estimated dry-docking date. When
significant dry-docking costs incurred prior to
the expiry of the depreciation period, the
remaining costs of the previous dry-docking are
written off immediately.

Vessels under construction are stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins
when the relevant assets are available for use.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(i)

Other property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of other property, plant and
equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Office equipment 20% — 33%
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if

appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Leases

The Group as lessee

126

(1)

(i)

Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets are accounted for as operating leases.
Lease payments (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as finance leases. At the
commencement of the lease term, a finance
lease is capitalised at the lower of the fair value
of the leased asset and the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at
the inception of the lease.

The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the statement of financial position as
finance lease payable. Lease payments are
apportioned between the finance charge and
the reduction of the outstanding liability. The
finance charge is allocated to each period
during the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under finance leases are depreciated the
same as owned assets.

The Group as lessor
Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees

all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are

accounted for as operating leases. Rental income

from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line

basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

(f)

Inventories

Inventories comprise bunker and lubricant oil for
vessels remaining on board at the end of the
reporting period. Inventories are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
using the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is
the expected amount to be realised from use as
estimated by the directors/management.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set
out in note 4(u) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(f) Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Continued)
Policy prior to 1 January 2018

Progress billings not yet paid by the customer were
included under “trade receivables”. Amounts
received before the related work was performed were
presented as “receipts in advance” under “other
payables and accruals”. These balances have been
reclassified as on 1 January 2018 as shown in Note 28.

(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group entity becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial

(h)

instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

130

(i)

()

(k)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of each reporting period.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (Continued)

132

Revenue from voyage charter and CoA is recognised
over time when the asphalt tanker chartering services
are performed.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income from time charter is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of each charter.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group when
specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities.

Revenue from voyage charter and CoA is recognised
on a percentage-of-completion basis, which is
determined on the time proportion method of each
individual voyage.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

Rental income from time charter is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of each charter.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

134

(r)

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(s) Taxation (Continued)

136

(t)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of
the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-
generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
lease receivables and trade receivables. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease
receivables and trade receivables. The ECL on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

138

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group's
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group's core operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4. FESTBEE)
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(Continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if:

(i) The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of
"performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there

is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria

are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by

the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is

more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past

due event;
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A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
counterparty’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the counterparty a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018

4. FESTBEE)
() EBREEREG%

Fﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁé(i‘“)

R F 2 ERALR A
RPHFMNBE 2 &R
FENRE - MARZHE
FRTERAREATEE
B2EE

— XRpEFREBESETT

HiWsER : 5

— RERBEEMNEABRMSE

PATEREE MR K ©

HEHBUR
ERENBTREBALREKR
Hﬁﬂl%’ﬁ B EERWE 2
e B (PIEF AR BE

E)\EBZF%}_F“ A E FEY
HREMmME @ FEE B HERAMN
FABRRERE))  ~&BE
HETRMEE - EHHNETR
BEDAREAEE Y ERE
FEREAEH T EEEBR
TEREREEBR - EAmmx
HERNIERPHER °

BAHEEBRNTERER

BHEEBEENGFEREOMR
T BUOBRE (EORKAE
BEE)RENRRREEN XK
o FHEEOMRLEQER
RIZERBERBERE AR E
AATEEERBE - MeRE
ENENERERENHEER
HEAHNEmAERRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKAS 17 Leases.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
assesses whether its financial assets (other than those
at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired,
based on objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the
(group of) financial asset(s) have been affected.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

144

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Policy prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

For trade receivables that are assessed not to be
impaired individually, the Group assesses them
collectively for impairment, based on the Group's
past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable
changes in economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is
directly reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the
amount of the impairment loss decreases in a
subsequent period and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed (either directly or by
adjusting the allowance account for trade receivables)
through profit or loss. However, the reversal must not
result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the
amortised cost of the financial asset would have been
had the impairment not been recognised at the date
the impairment is reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period or those that indicate
the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.
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5.

146

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for
the Group’s property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned. Particularly, the Group will review
the residual value of each vessel by reference to scrap
steel price at the end of each reporting period.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2018 was approximately
US$184,190,000 (2017: US$157,547,000).

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax, Singapore Corporate Income
Tax and the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC")
Corporate Income Tax was made since the Group
had no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 5. {4stTBAEBEEEZNETEXRR
(Continued) (&)

(c)

Impairment of trade receivables

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018,
the management of the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that trade receivables are impaired. The
provision policy for bad and doubtful debts of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and
ageing analysis of accounts and on management’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of trade
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer. If
the financial conditions of customers of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional allowance
may be required.

As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of
trade receivables was US$1,101,000 and no allowance
of trade receivable was made.

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of
impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables based
on the credit risk of trade receivables. The amount of
the impairment loss based on ECL model is measured
as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future
cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances,
a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
trade receivables is US$1,952,000 and no allowance
of trade receivable was made.
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6.

148

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as some of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of respective Group entities
such as Singapore dollars (“SGD") and Renminbi
(“RMB”). During the year, the Group entered into
foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the
foreign currency risk in respect of bank loans
denominated in SGD. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider further its
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

At 31 December 2018, if USD had strengthened/
weakened 5 per cent against SGD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax
for the year would have been approximately
US$1,007,000 (2017: US$1,223,000) higher/lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange
gains/losses on bank loans denominated in SGD.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

(i) Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each
business unit subject to the Group’s established
policy, procedures and control relating to
customer credit risk management. Individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables, for voyage charter, generally
are due within five business days after
completion of cargo loading. For CoA, generally
are due within three business days after
completion of cargo discharging. For demurrage
claims, the balance are normally are due within
30 days after the finalisation. Debtors with
balances that are more than 3 months past due
are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

150

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's
different customer bases. The ECL rate of
current trade receivables is assessed to be 0%.
No loss allowance provision was recognised
during the year.

Other receivables

The Group assessed that the ECL for other
receivables are not material under 12-month
expected losses method. Thus no loss allowance
provision was recognised during the year.

Prior to 1 January 2018

Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was
recognised only when there was objective
evidence of impairment. At 31 December 2017,
no allowance for trade receivables was made
and no trade receivables were past due but not
impaired.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
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undiscounted cash flows of the Group's non- MIENTE S /B &R B S T in
derivative financial liabilities is as follows: T
Ondemand  Between  Between
or within 1 and 2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
RERR
R1ER 18228 2E5% 5FNE st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
=T TET TET TET TET
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H
Bank loans BITER 9,008 8,661 24,718 1,596 43,983
Finance lease payables ~ EffRIEHAE 15,203 15,224 50,264 = 80,691
Trade and other payables & 5 & E A B FE 2,934 = = - 2,934
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318
Bank loans RITER 13,385 12,900 39,185 5,549 71,019
Finance lease payables ~ FEff@EME 3,108 2,983 8,854 = 14,945
Trade and other payables &5 M E A ERFIE 10,962 - = = 10,962
Advance from related NS
companies 590 - - - 590
Interest rate risk (d) FIEE
The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk mainly KE.E@%'JTJ—L EEK;KQH
arises from its bank deposits, bank loans and finance RITFER TERKENR
lease payables. Bank deposits of approximately EHE fEﬁﬁ%ﬁ(%’Uﬂ,Q‘?S,OOO
US$11,095,000 (2017: US$2,074,000) bear interests at %7t (2017 4 : 2,074,000 7T )
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair REFEMEFLS - FlbEAZ A
value interest rate risk. The remaining bank deposits, FEMERRE 2 TRTF

bank loans and finance lease payables bear interests
at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

R RTEFRNENBERE

BIZEH R R WK ERIR
TR EE -
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. EHMEABEE(H)
(d) Interest rate risk (Continued) (d) FI=mEBx(E)
The Group used interest rate swaps in order mitigate AEBFERF RBH R D E
its exposure associated with fluctuations relating to HEg e A BIH S RERED
interest cash flows. The critical terms of these interest BRENRRE o %5 F X8 e
rate swaps are similar to those of the hedged loans. BRI EEH E R A REALL -
At 31 December 2018, if interest rates had been 100 201812 A31H @ fw & X
basis points lower/higher with all other variables held TR/ EF100EES: - A
constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year EmEsgiETeEg  BFREg
would have been approximately US$1,044,000 (2017: BT BENE NN R
US$772,000) higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of 1,044,0003% 7T (2017 4
lower/higher interest expenses. 772,000%7T) - F 2R AT B
P TB& _EFFTEL -
(e) Categories of financial instruments (e) EWMITEER
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 &
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Financial assets: TREE:
Financial assets mandatorily BER A EFABR
measured at FVTPL TENCRIEE
— derivative financial instrument — T4 & T A 119 -
Financial assets measured at R ARFT 2R
amortised cost TREE 25,512 .
Loans and receivables (including ERnEKZE (B
cash and cash equivalents) BeMBEEEEY) = 5,441
Financial liabilities: cEAasE:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BATEFABER
TRIBE
— derivative financial instrument — T4 4B T A 167 350
Financial liabilities measured R AFTE R
at amortised cost THERE 110,686 88,720
(f) Fair values H A¥E

152

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statements of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.
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7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a
fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

7.

DNFEFE
RFEAMBE2EENAEARE
BERFRSHEEEEMBEEZR
BEMNZER - TIlRFER
ERBRASAFEFEMERZ
EEDEGABBELIELS=EZFR
HRFERER

F-RBAE: AEREARFEAR
HRGZEREELBEREED
152 B (CREHFHE) -

F_ABAE: TEEXEERER
ZEENBBERAE(TRESE E
RARZHE) o

F=RBWAE: BEXBBEZTH
BRBAE-

AEENREREEHERNEE

LHREDNEERA=ESRE
MEVEA R, o
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7.

154

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AEEFEE)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (a) AFEEBREE :
At 31
Fair value measurements using: December
ERATIERN D FERE : 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  R2018%
B B-H B 12A31H
UsS$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
TET =T TET TET
Recurring fair value =~ E®RMAFEE !
measurement:
Financial assets tREE
Foreign currency HMERBIE A
forward contract - 37 - 37
Interest rate swap F =g HA S 4
contracts - 82 = 82
- 119 - 119
Recurring fair value = EEMAFEFE :
measurement:
Financial liabilities A =N
Interest rate swap F =g HAE 4
contracts - 167 - 167
At 31
Fair value measurements using: ~ December
ER TR R FEAE 2017
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2017
F—R FR F=H  12A3H
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEX TEx TET TET
Recurring fair value  EEMAFEFE :
measurement:
Financial liabilities cHeE
Interest rate swap FEIgHA A 4
contracts - 350 - 350

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A WA M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. AEEFEE)
(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by the (b) BHEXAEEFEANMGER
Group and valuation techniques and inputs FURAFEFTERFEADN
used in fair value measurements: HERERRAEIE

Level 2 fair value measurements FE_RAFEFTE

Assets/(liabilities)

5E (86)
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2018 2017
i fEE M WABE 2018 2017 &
US$'000 US$'000
FER FETT
Foreign currency Discounted Comparable
forward contract cash flows exchange rate 37 -
HNERERE K RRRBE TN E i
Interest rate swap  Discounted Interest rate
contracts cash flows Discount rate 82 -
MR HE ) BB TR IR JVESERS
Interest rate swap  Discounted Interest rate
contracts cash flows Discount rate (167) (350)
MERHE L) BB R PNEGVELSERES

valuation techniques used.

During the year, there were no changes in the
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8. REVENUE 8. W#=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers ERBEENRRERSFEE DM
by services and the timing of revenue recognition for the BEAHWADIRIOT :
year are as follow:
2018 2017
20184 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FEx F=ET
Revenue from contracts with ERAMBEHRELERE 155
customers within the scope HEANNEFESHWA
of HKFRS 15
— Voyage charter and CoA, —RRELBESLN
recognised over time B B ] HE 7R 19,246 13,666
Revenue from other sources R B H A RR B W =
— Time charter — HiM 23,470 20,061
42,716 33,727
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the REBCRAZRBERET EZEH RE
cumulative effect method. Under this method, the FAEBERELERFE 1558 - R Ut
comparative information is not restated and was prepared FAET  WEESHRER - B8
in accordance with HKAS 18 and HKAS 11. BRAEGTERF 18R AEESE
ERFE 1 RRE -
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HfttlrA
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Bank interest income RITH B WA 103 11
Compensation income EEEIA 7,550 258
Fair value gains on derivative PTHESR T AR ERTS
financial instruments 302 -
Gain on disposal of derivative HEITE SR T AR
financial instrument 1 -
Sundry income FMIEBUA 266 63
8,222 332
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 7 HEH

Operating segment information:

The Group has one single reportable segment which was
managed as a single strategic business unit that engaged
in provision of asphalt tanker chartering services with
similar marketing strategy. Information reported to the
Group's chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment performance is
focused on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the Group's resources are integrated and no discrete
financial information is available. Accordingly, no segment
analysis is presented.

Geographical information:

Revenue

The Group's business is managed on a worldwide basis.
The revenue generated from provision of asphalt tanker
chartering services, which is carried out internationally, and
the way in which costs are allocated, preclude a meaningful
presentation of geographical information.

Non-current assets

As at 31 December 2017 and 2018, over 99% of the
Group’s non-current assets are vessels and vessels under
construction.

The vessels are primarily utilised across geographical
markets for shipment of liquid asphalt throughout the
world. Accordingly, it is impractical to present the locations
of the vessels by geographical areas and thus no segment
analysis is presented.

REDBER -

AEERBE—BE—FA2HN
ERE-BMEBEMERE  UER
U2 SH RS 1 SR ALUE S M M AR
%o MBERDERFERENZ2 R
FTAEETIEZLERRENER
ERHRASEBRENEZRE
RAEBENERBESL  MED
FIBATE BRI AT A o Bt WEZ
TRAD BT

wEER
W 28

AEBNEBREREEETE - 12
WESHAMRYE (E2REBENFH
R) s am A AD BT R - 15
2 REHALEEE

RBEE
R20184%F K&2017F12A31H K
SEBORHIERDEERMM R
FEEREM o

AT ERANAEERBEARNESH
EMSHEKEREBES - ALt %
wIBEIH 2N MMULEL TEE
BT 3 & 2 5RO BT o
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

11.

158

10. 7 #BE# (4

Revenue from major customers: REFEEZEFHRE :
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Customer A ZEA 9,925 10,009
Customer B =ZFEB 4,565 6,365
Customer C ZHEC 10,263 5,618
Customer D (Note) ZED(HIsE) - 5,093
Customer E ZEE 8,316 4,188
Customer F ZFEF 5,309 -

Note: Revenue from Customer D represented less than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCE COSTS

Mist - REZEP DR IE A SEBE# £2018
FIR2ANHIEFEREE10% °

11. BIFERRA

2018 2017

2018 2017

US$'000 US$'000

FExx FET

Finance leases charges BHEHEEN 2,878 712
Interest rate swap expenses ARz HIF X 171 211

Interest on bank and RITREMERFE

other borrowings 2,420 2,690
5,469 3,613

Less: amount capitalised D= Y i - (32)
5,469 3,581
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FTBHIAX

2018 2017

20184 2017 4

US$'000 US$'000

FEx TR

Current tax BIERTR IR - -
During the year, the Group mainly operated in Hong Kong, EXNAEEBTEEEFE - AEE
PRC and Singapore. However, no provision for Hong Kong IR L EEFE o SR » EERARE
Profits Tax, PRC Corporate Income Tax and Singapore B E AN EERR SRR et
Corporate Income Tax was made since the Group had no EEFNEH PR EH L
assessable profit for the year (2017: Nil). D035 > 2 P18 R 1 B4 (2017 4F -

) o
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and FEMBEST EEMATETFILAE S
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the Hong FEMMEAELERENEENT

Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

2018 2017
2018 F 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Profit before tax BRA AT A1 6,613 6,032
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of LB BN S E 16.5% (2017
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) F 1 16.5%) 5t EHHIA 1,091 995
Tax effect of income that is BERRBMANREZE
not taxable (8,577) (5,642)
Tax effect of expenses that are TRIHOFE A > IR IS 2 2
not deductible 7,277 4,563
Tax effect of tax losses not RIERTRIBEENRBTE
recognised 256 79
Effect of different tax rates of B AR TR RN TE
subsidiaries (47) 5
Income tax expense PRSHF - R
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12.

160

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately US$1,743,000 (2017: US$638,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams from those loss making subsidiaries.
The aforesaid unused tax losses of the Group have not yet
been agreed by respective tax authorities. The expiry date
of unrecognised tax losses are summarised as follows:

12.

Frisfimx (&)

R2018F 12 A31H AEEBXH
B %% 18 &5 38 491,743,000 3 7T (2017
F : 638,000 7T ) 7] f A R 85 K
Koo BIEBNREZZHRGEE
BRI B R EENAKRKZIRT
AEAMEREERBEE - A%
Ee LR ABHIEBBESRES
BERMEHKERTE  RERRIBEEHIE
MEEEBMENT

2018 2017

2018 2017 F

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

On 31 December 2022 2022612 A31H 46 45
On 31 December 2023 M2023F 12 A31H 858 -
Carried forward indefinitely R B4 839 593
1,743 638
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13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

13. FREF
AEBRFR R TEME, /(5

The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following:

A) TIIBIREZS

2018 2017
20184 2017 &
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Auditors’ remuneration 1% 4 B 7 B 158 77
Depreciation TE 7,299 5,545
Exchange (gains)/losses, net PE 5, (Wzs) B8 35 (343) 1,543
Gain on disposal of derivative HEMESRT Al
financial instrument (1) -
Fair value (gains)/losses on MTETmIARNTE
derivative financial instruments (M=) B8 (302) 350
Listing expenses TR 1,888 374
Operating lease charges KEHEER
— land and buildings — T REF 175 171
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRAN(BRESEHM)
emoluments)
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances — ﬂirﬁ/i\ P AWN=3:0 819 679
— Retirement benefits scheme IRREFIFT IR
contributions 119 115
— Other benefits — HfbtaH| 142 120
1,080 914
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2017, staff costs include fee MsE B ZE2017F12ANBEFE BIK
reimbursement to a related company of approximately AEEHE—HEBARNERY
US$640,000. 640,000 7T ©
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14. DIRECTORS’' AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of each director are set out below:

14. EEREEF N

(a) ESHM
EREZNHMEIIOT

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances bonuses contributions Total
RAER
we HFEREW BERA HE e @t
US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000
TET TET TEx TER TET
Year ended BZE2018%F
31 December 2018 12F31H
LFE
Mr. Ding Xiao Li THI%EE - 5 - - 5
Mr. Xu Wen Jun ®XAxE - 95 - 100
Mr.DingYuZhao T E$I%4 - 5 = - 5
Mr. Lai Guanrong REREE = 8 - - 8
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BEERE - 8 - - 8
Mr. Xu Jie BiEgE - 8 5 - 8
- 129 - 5 134
Year ended BHZE2017F
31 December 2017 12 A31H
IEFE
Mr. Ding Xiao Li THMY kA - = = = >
Mr. Xu Wen Jun i€ pi: - 84 - 5 89
Mr. Ding Yu Zhao TEeI%EE = = - ~ =
- 84 - 5 89

There were no arrangements under which a director
waived or agreed waive any emoluments during the
year (2017: Nil).
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14. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

(c)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included one (2017: one) director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2017:

14. EEREEFM (5)

(b) EEBRESHFMAL
AEBFRANAGTREHHA
TEE—Z(Q017F: —&)E&E
= BHM RN XS
Mo HepmMA (20174 - [U%)

four) individuals are set out below: ATHFT -
2018 2017
20184 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FE
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 251 222
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL - -

Retirement benefits scheme RKEFET Bl 3K

contributions 19 19
270 241

The emoluments fell within the following band:

ERHFMARNTIEE :

Number of individuals

A
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 &
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 % 7T 4 4

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director’s connected party had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

() EBRXRS  REHEHEHF
MEX#ER
MEEMEANEEXEERH
ARRRERHNTARRRE
ENEFECZHREALHERLH
BEREFHEBEEABRENEAXR
R RHERAKH RAFE
R AL E NI E DA
748 -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)
(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and

other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiaries undertaking of the
Company, where applicable, in favor of directors

14.

EEREESHFM )

(d BEUNESE HSEZER
HBEEERASHEANE
T& EERREMBRINE
HZE2018F 12 A3 BHILFE -
ARAR AR B K E QR (40
BA)BMENEEATHEARL
THEREERREMI S

(2017: Nil).

15. DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of a

dividend (2017: Nil).

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on

the following:

(201745 : 4&) -

15. RE

16. EREF

BERERBMOFTEERIA

EETEZRMNE (20174 « £) o

&I

2018 2017
20184 2017 £
US$'000 US$'000
FTEx FET
Earnings BF
Profit for the year attributable to RAFHEB ANERFE R
owners of the Company 6,613 5,489
'000 ‘000
TR TR
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of TmAR NAE T & ()
ordinary shares (Note) 326,575 24,698
Note: On 19 December 2017, the Company issued and allocated shares Mz : 2017 12A198 - & A 7 M

164

to Centennial Best and Bilsea International Pte. Ltd. (“Bilsea
International”) for the purpose of loans capitalisation and exchange
30% shares of a subsidiary. Details refer to Note 23(v) and 23(vi).
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of calculating basic earnings per share for both years has been
adjusted for the effect of the capitalisation issue (Note 23(viii)).

No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil) as there was no
potential ordinary share outstanding.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. % - BEREE
Vessels
Vessels & Office under
dry-docking  equipment construction Total
MM RER NS EEMM @t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FER FEr FEr
Cost A
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 A1 H 75,993 2 37,149 113,144
Additions NE 1,078 45 60,906 62,029
Transfer [ 74,446 - (74,446) -
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31B X
and 1 January 2018 20181 A1H 151,517 47 23,609 175,173
Additions NE 1,596 12 32,334 33,942
Write-off ek (1,168) = = (1,168)
Transfer BEE 55,943 = (55,943) =
At 31 December 2018 MN2018F 12 A31H 207,888 59 - 207,947
Accumulated depreciation ZFHiTE
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 A1 H 12,080 1 - 12,081
Charge for the year FRMG 5,535 10 - 5,545
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31B K
and 1 January 2018 20181 A1 H 17,615 1 - 17,626
Charge for the year FERMG 7,285 14 = 7,299
Write-off Packc| (1,168) - - (1,168)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H 23,732 25 = 23,757
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2018 72018412 A 31 H 184,156 34 - 184,190
At 31 December 2017 MR2017%F 12318 133,902 36 23,609 157,547
At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of vessels R2018F 12 A31H * A AEERTT
pledged as securities for the Group's bank loans amounted EXEFEROMMEEEL R
to approximately US$69,369,000 (2017: US$109,147,000) 69,369,000% (2017 F :
(Note 26). 109,147,000 7T) (M17E26) °
At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of vessels held 201812 A31H - XEERER
by the Group under finance leases amounted to EHERANMMANEBREENR
approximately US$114,787,000 (2017: US$24,755,000) (Note 114,787,0003% 7T (2017 : 24,755,000
27). E7t)(MaE27) -
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18. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 18. T4/ T H
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 &
US$’'000 US$'000
ST FET
Financial assets EWMEE

19.

166

Fair value of foreign currency forward

SNEEHIE R FE

contract 37 -
Fair value of interest rate swap FMEEEHEL A TE
contracts 82 -
119 -
Financial liabilities TRas
Fair value of interest rate swap MEEEHE LA TE
contracts 167 350
The Group entered into certain foreign currency forward ANEBEETIRTEILE TINER
contracts and interest rate swap contracts with banks to e N EREHE A ANEIBEERE
manage its exchange rate and interest rate exposure. T RFEE g
The foreign currency forward contracts are measured at ZEINERPEDTI AR A FER
fair value through profit or loss. The fair value has been ABHmE - A FENERAERE
estimated using discounted cash flows that are based on HER R G4 RERMAIRR ¢
forward exchange rates and contract forward rates. mEmEt
The interest rate swap contracts are measured at fair value AERBEE LIE AT ETAEBRT
through profit or loss. The fair value has been estimated Ec AVFEDNDFERAERAE KR
using discounted cash flows that are based on interest RKEELIRIRE R E AT o
rates and discount rates.
INVENTORIES 19. 78
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
TER FET
Bunker and lubricant oil for vessels AREREL X B B 949 633
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EZEWRIE
For time charter, the Group generally receives monthly RHEmMES - —RIZAREFLIE
prepayment from customers. For voyage charter, the AR REEMES » NEE—K
Group generally receives full payment within five business & i%f?zfﬁfﬁﬂ il % B Rk E
days after completion of cargo loading. For CoA, the WHRIE - FREERMS * A%
Group generally receives full payment within three l ﬁxﬁ’\mﬁﬁﬂ SR =EEXBER
business days after completion of cargo discharging. For WER B ERE - (RN B E B REEM
demurrage claims, the balance is normally paid within 30 T BB MINEERIOKAZ -
days after the finalisation. Each customer has a maximum BREFHERSEEREE - A&
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over B = SRERIRIEHI| H R EEEUFRIE -
its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are E=TFmaTe s o
reviewed regularly by the directors.
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the J//@ A AREENE 5 RWR
invoice date, is as follows: BRSO ATIO T -
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 £
Us$'000 US$'000
TER FET
0 to 30 days 02 30H 1,504 1,101
Over 30 days 30HMAE 448 -
1,952 1,101
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are AEEE FERFIERNREBENE
denominated in USD. JUEHE °
21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 21. Htt W RIE - BERAMNR
PREPAYMENTS 15
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017
Us$'000 US$'000
TER FET
Other receivables H A & YR IE 3,245 82
Deposits and prepayments e MTE FIE 632 800
Due from a shareholder (Note) JEUS AR R 5 IE(WTE) 322 N
Due from ultimate parent (Note) iAe 52 SSYNCIES RN D) - 10
4,199 892
Note: The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest free FEE ﬁuﬂz RIBARBEIEZ S MUY - AEEE

and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

168

(a)

The Group's pledged bank deposits included
deposits pledged to a bank to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (Note 26). The deposits were in
USD and bore fixed interest rate of 2.4% (2017: 1.1%)
per annum, and therefore were subject to fair value
interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2018, bank balances of
approximately US$815,000 (2017: US$1,164,000) were
restricted from being used and charged over the
Group's bank loans (Note 26).

At 31 December 2018, bank balances of
approximately US$1,024,000 (2017: US$509,000) were
restricted from being used and charged over the
Group's financial lease payables (Note 27).

At 31 December 2018, the Group's unpledged bank
and cash balances included bank deposit with original
maturity within three months of US$3,000,000 and
bank deposit with original maturity beyond three
months of US$6,000,000. These deposits were in USD
and bore fixed interest rates of 3.4% (2017: Nil) and
3.7% (2017: Nil) per annum respectively, and therefore
were subject to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2018, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB and kept in the PRC
amounted to approximately US$160,000 (2017:
US$57,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. R
Number of
shares Amount
R E &8
Note US$'000
FitaE S
Authorised: BE
At 1 January 2017 (US$1 each) R2017E1 A1 8 ()
(BR1%ET) 50,000 50
Increase in authorised capital SETERRARIE N (i 52,936,244 52,936
Subdivision of shares S (i} 5,245,638,156 -
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January R2017F12A318%
2018 (US$0.01 each) 20181 A1H
(&8,001%7) 5,298,624,400 52,986
Increase in authorised capital AR (vii) 4,701,375,600 47,014
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12831H
(US$0.01 each) (8K 0.01%7) 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRER:
At 1 January 2017 (US$1 each) R2017E1 A1 H ()
(BR1%E7T) 10,000 10
Subdivision of shares npis (iii) 990,000 -
Shares issued to Golden Boomer 7] Golden Boomer & (iv)
and Gigantic Path Gigantic Path #1178z {7 1,566,322 16
Shares issued to Centennial Best 7] Centennial Best 317 % {7 (v) 45,651,160 456
Shares issued to Bilsea International 7] Bilsea International (vi)
Bk 4,768,762 48
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F128318K
1 January 2018 (US$0.01 each) 201851 A 18
(B1001%7T) 52,986,244 530
Shares capitalisation ROERME (viid) 247,013,756 2,470
Shares issued under the BEEHRBERTNRN (ix)
Global Offering 100,000,000 1,000
At 31 December 2018 H2018%12A31H
(US$0.01 each) (88 0.01%7%) 400,000,000 4,000
FEREEEERRAR /2018 FE/H 169



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

23. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

170

i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company in the
Cayman Islands on 28 June 2016 with an authorised share capital of
US$50,000 divided into 50,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each. Upon
incorporation, one share was allotted as fully paid at par value to a
subscriber, and was then transferred to Mr. Ding Xiao Li. On the
same date, 9,999 shares were issued and allotted at par value to
the Controlling Shareholders. On 22 September 2016, these 10,000
shares were transferred to Centennial Best, the ultimate parent.

On 15 December 2017, a written resolution in lieu of an
extraordinary general meeting was passed to increase the
authorised capital of the Company from US$50,000 divided into
50,000 ordinary shares with a par value of US$1 each to
US$52,986,244 divided into 52,986,244 ordinary shares with a par
value of US$1 each by the creation of US$52,936,244 divided into
52,936,244 ordinary shares with a par value of US$1 each.

On 16 December 2017, a written resolution in lieu of an
extraordinary general meeting was passed to subdivide the
authorised capital of the Company from 52,986,244 ordinary shares
with a par value of US$1 each into 5,298,624,400 ordinary shares
with a par value of US$0.01 each by the creation of 5,245,638,156
ordinary shares, and subdivide the issued capital owned by
Centennial Best from 10,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
US$1 each into 1,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
US$0.01 each by the creation of 990,000 ordinary shares.

On 19 December 2017, the Company issued and allotted 97,894
shares to Golden Boomer Limited (“Golden Boomer") (controlled
by Mr. Ding Xiao Li) in exchange for 357,140 shares in Xin Yuan
Ocean Shipping (HK) Group Limited (“Xin Yuan Ocean”),
representing approximately 0.51% of the entire issued share capital
of Xin Yuan Ocean.

On the same date, the Company further issued and allotted
1,468,428 shares to Gigantic Path Limited ("Gigantic Path”)
(controlled by Mr. Ding Yu Zhao) in exchange for 5,357,170 shares
in Xin Yuan Ocean, representing approximately 7.65% of the entire
issued share capital of Xin Yuan Ocean.

On 19 December 2017, the Company issued and allotted
45,651,160 shares to Centennial Best which was used to settle the
debts owing to Centennial Best amounted to US$46,641,160.
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KH#10.51%
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23. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 23. BA ()

Notes: (Continued)

(vi)  On 19 December 2017, the Company issued and allotted 4,768,762
shares to Bilsea International, the then non-controlling shareholder
of Bilxin Shipping Group Pte. Ltd. (“Bilxin Shipping”), in exchange
for transfer of 300,000 shares in Bilxin Shipping, representing 30%
of the entire issued share capital of Bilxin Shipping to Shun Yuen
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shun Yuen HK") on 22 December
2017. In consideration of the Company agreeing to allot and issue
the said 4,768,762 shares, Bilsea International assigned to Shun
Yuen HK the debt of the amount of US$7,471,220 (including
advance to Bilsea International of US$6,480,000 and the amount
due to Bilsea International of US$991,220) owed by Bilxin Shipping
to Bilsea International on 18 December 2017.

(vii)  Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 6 September 2018, the authorised capital of the
Company increased from US$52,986,244 divided into 5,298,624,400
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.01 each to US$100,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
US$0.01 each by the creation of 4,701,375,600 shares.

(viii)  Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 6 September 2018, conditional on share premium
account of the Company being credited as a result of the Global
Offering , the directors were authorised to capitalise an amount of
US$2,470,138 standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
247,013,756 shares for allotment and issue to the then existing
shareholders in proportion to their respective shareholdings.

(ix)  On 26 September 2018, the Company issued 100,000,000 new
shares at HK$1.5 (equivalent to US$0.1918) each in relation to the
Global Offering. The premium on the issue of shares, amounting to
approximately US$17,060,000, net of listing-related expenses of
approximately US$1,120,000 was credited to the Company’s share
premium account. These new shares rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group currently does not have any specific policies
and processes for managing capital.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

BaE (&)

(vi) 2017128198 » & A 7] [ Bilsea
International, Bilxin Shipping Group
Pte. Ltd. ([ Bilxin Shipping]) & B & 3E
%R A IR ) B 1T R BL 854,768,762 I %
5 LABRE 2017 F12 A 22 HIAME R %
E(HB)BRAR(ERESE]) EHiE
300,000 f% Bilxin Shippingi% 13+ # &
M Bilxin Shipping & &0 B 2 17 ix 7~ /9
30% © R AR AR B AL R EAT Lt
4,768,762 1% 1% 15 - Bilsea International
2017612 A18 A M5 R & & & %
Bilxin Shipping & f+f Bilsea International
B & 7 A #7,471,220F 70 0 B I (A
Bilsea International # 5% 6,480,000 3£ JT
N &1 Bilsea International FX38 991,220
e

(viiy RIBARQRIIREMN2018F9 A6 HiBA
MEERZER » AR EDEERAAE B
#85%4,701,375,600 P& A% 1) R 52,986,244
ZE7T(5 55,298,624,400% F A% I 1E0.01
SEITHYE EAY) #2 2 100,000,000 7T (5
/10,000,000,000 % & % 1 £ 0.01 3= 7
7 EmAY) o

(i) REBEARFTREN2018F9A6HBMA
MEERERR  FARERMGEERRA
ERBEHRBHEREZ  BEESHAR
R @ ERAERREE2,470,138€ T
BEXE - WAREHESCIZERRA
[RRE BEFRLFIRE RETTZE
19 247,013,756 BB 10 K I& 3K ©

(ix) T2018%9 F26H » AR & 52 Bk
EEERI1.5B T (FHER0.1918E L)
%% 17 100,000,000 P& 3 A& 17 = 21T 1D
B35 B 417,060,000 7T + 1% 48
B8 5 S 471,120,000 7T 5t AR R A
AR EER - ZEFIRMHRNE S EER
BERMHZEBREMAL

EXmmEE
AEENEAERERREREARE
BSELENRE N RBEBICER
BLRE s AR R IE AR @ R KA

AEBEHRYEEEEANIMNA
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24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

172

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

24. ;I;’L\\ﬂ BRI R R RS
(a) AQBHBMREK

Company
As at 31 December
MW12H831H
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
Note US$'000 US$'000
B FE FEx FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B AT MR E 55,603 8,962
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits Hibpr A 54 %
and prepayments T IR 335 185
Due from ultimate parent e s SSR/NEIEEE] - 10
Due from subsidiaries A NG E | 15,471 46,035
Bank and cash balances IRTT IR 8 434 -
Total current assets REBEEHAE 16,240 46,230
TOTAL ASSETS BEE#AE 71,843 55,192
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEpEaE
Share capital f& 7 4,000 530
Reserves ] 24(b) 67,128 54,617
Total equity M8 71,128 55,147
LIABILITIES a&
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals  H A 5IE & BT & F 591 1
Due to subsidiaries FETI B A el 5kE 124 44
Total current liabilities R EEHEE 715 45
TOTAL EQUITY AND ERRAERRE
LIABILITIES 71,843 55,192

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March
2019 and is signed on its behalf by:

Xu Wenjun X
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24. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

ngﬂﬂmﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@
(%)

(b) ANATWHERE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total

B fE RitEE st

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

FE FTET FTET

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H - ) ()
Shares issued to ultimate parent AR EF A A1 21T D

(Note 23(v)) (HEE23() 46,185 - 46,185
Shares issued to then non- REEXI G EE: )

controlling shareholder (BT &E230vi))

(Note 23(vi)) 8,888 - 8,888
Loss for the year FAEE - (449) (449)
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12R318HK

1 January 2018 2018F1A1H 55,073 (456) 54,617
Share capitalisation (Note 23(viii)) {7 & A (B 23(viii) (2,470) - (2,470)
Shares issued under the Global RIEEHRERTHRG

Offering (Note 23(ix)) (B 5E 23(%)) 17,060 - 17,060
Loss for the year FAEE - (2,079) (2,079)
At 31 December 2018 R2018F 12 A31H 69,663 (2,535) 67,128
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25. RESERVES

174

(a)

(b)

The Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserve

(i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents wavier of amount
due to the Controlling Shareholders. As the
waived amount is in substance equivalent to a
capital contribution to the Group, hence, it has
been accounted for as capital reserve.

(iii) Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the cost of investment in Xin
Yuan Ocean over the nominal value of shares of
Xin Yuan Ocean acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation.

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange difference
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 4(b)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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26. BANK LOANS 26. RITER
The bank loans are repayable as follows: JEEERITTERWT -
2018 2017
2018 £ 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Within one year 1A 7,330 10,880
More than one year, but not 1TFLA B BIB2F
exceeding two years 7,330 10,880
More than two years, but not 2F LA FBETEBRSF
more than five years 23,188 36,518
More than five years S5 1,583 5,413
39,431 63,691
Less: Amount due for settlement S BERI2E BN EAEE
within 12 months (shown under FIBEGNAERBEE)
current liabilities) (7,330) (10,880)
Amount due for settlement after BR12{E A& B HEE 08
12 months 32,101 52,811
The carrying amounts of the Group's bank loans are AEBFETEROERENIENAT
denominated in the following currencies: EHETIME -
2018 2017
2018 2017
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FE
usD ET 19,200 39,279
SGD T hn3k T 20,231 24,412
39,431 63,691
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26.

176

BANK LOANS (Continued)

The effective interest rates as at 31 December were as

26. RITER ()

AREBBRITERNREET AT

follows: BiEsHE -
2018 2017
2018 & 2017 %
Bank loans IRITEK 4.30%-5.23%  3.32%-5.5%

Bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of the
construction of the vessels. At 31 December 2018, the
bank loans were secured by the followings:

() Mortgage over the Group's vessels (Note 17);

(i)  Corporate guarantees provided by the Company and
subsidiaries; and

(iii) Pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balances
(Note 22).

At 31 December 2017, the bank loans were secured by the
following:

()  Mortgage over the Group's vessels (Note 17);
(i) Corporate guarantees provided by related
companies, Bilsea International and certain

subsidiaries;

(iii) Personal guarantees provided by the Controlling
Shareholders and two directors of Bilxin Shipping;

(iv) Pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balance
(Note 22); and

(v)  Share of certain subsidiaries.
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27. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 27. MEHERNRIE
Minimum lease payments

BREEEMNR
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
TErx FET
Within one year —F AR 15,203 3,108
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-ZFRF (BHEEERF) 65,488 11,837
80,691 14,945
Less: Future finance charges B RIREEE A (12,370) (1,468)
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTIRE 68,321 13,477

Present value of
minimum lease payments

BREEENREE
2018 2017
2018 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Within one year —FE A 11,561 2,499
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FE-_ZFRF(BHEEERF) 56,760 10,978
Present value of lease obligations HESEMFRE 68,321 13,477
Less: Amount due for settlement B BRN12E A AR EAEE
within 12 months (shown under 7IE G AREBERE)
current liabilities) (11,561) (2,499)
Amount due for settlement after BN 128 A& B EAE T IE
12 months 56,760 10,978
It is the Group's policy to lease certain of its vessels under REBMBREREREHERA
finance leases. The lease term is either 4 or 5 years. EHETMM - HEIR4SEF -
All finance lease payables are denominated in USD. FiERERSERNFIELAEITE
1B -
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27.

178

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES (Continued)

The effective borrowing rates as at 31 December were as
follows:

27.

BMEHEEMNREE)
K12 A3 BERERMEMT

2018 2017
2018 2017 4
Finance lease payables mEHE RN 6.60%-7.44% 5.01%

Interest rates are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. All leases are on a
fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been
entered into for contingent rental payments. At the end of
each lease term, the vessels would be transferred to the
Group.

At 31 December 2018, financial lease payables were
secured by the followings:

()  Charges over the Group's vessels (Note 17);

(i) Corporate guarantees provided by the Company
and/or subsidiaries;

(i) Restricted bank balances (Note 22(b)); and

Shares of subsidiaries.

(iv)

At 31 December 2017, finance lease payables were
secured by the followings:

()  Charges over the Group's vessels (Note 17);
(i) Corporate guarantee provided by the a subsidiary;

Personal guarantees provided by the Controlling
Shareholders;
Restricted bank balances (Note 22(b)); and

(v)  Shares of subsidiaries.
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28. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

28. BHEE ESNEE
AEEOBRUTRAABANE

contract assets: E

31 December 1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017
2018 % 20184 2017 &
12H31H 1HA1H 12A31H
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEn T=rn FET
Unbilled revenue — voyage AEARESKE —BHK
charter and CoA BEAH = 94 -
Receivables from contracts with BB RSN FE 1558
customers within the scope of HEANHZEEHWA -
HKFRS 15, which are included A TE SRR
in “Trade receivables” 1,952 1,438

AEEANEEREREREERRE
HEBEEANNARKRERE - &
MEENBRENK R ERITRE
ERWFE - It —RRAEERF
PREBERRSRL -

Contract assets of the Group consist of unbilled amount
resulting from voyage charter and CoA over time. Contract
assets are transferred to receivables when the rights
become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group
issues invoice to the customer.

WEHAGHNEELEBAREBEEEKN
balances during the reporting period. B o

There were no significant changes in the contract assets

AEECHIBNATRSEHEBEOR

contract liabilities: & :

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

31 December 1 January 31 December

2018 2018 2017
2018 % 20184 2017 %
12A31H 1H18 12H31H
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER FET T=r
Billings in advance — voyage RERARE —R2ER
charter and CoA BEAH 869 431 N\
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28.

180

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Contract liabilities of the Group arise from the advance
payments made by the customer or billing involved to the
customer (whichever is earlier) while underlying services
are yet to be provided. Such liabilities increased as a result
of more vessels operated under voyage charter and CoA.

There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities
balances during the reporting period.

Movements in contract liabilities:

28. BHEE EBHNEBE®)

AEEANBEELEERRHEE
iR IR RIS (R B R A E
FRANESE(KREAE) &
REAREEADETLEE S H
8 BEEERM -

BERANGNBEEBRARBELEERXN

2018
2018 F
US$'000
THET
Balance at 1 January M1 A1B2Z&#% 431
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERWEBFEELHEE
recognising revenue during the year was BALTAFVENERE
included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (431)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BRELMBESHELFAARE
billing in advance of voyage charter and CoA B & #) & &1L N 869
Balance at 31 December K12 A31 B2 &% 869
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29. TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the

29. BES EARIE

REZHRHZIINE Z RN FIARK

invoice date, is as follows: BT -
2018 2017
2018 2017
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
0 to 30 days 0&230H 1,473 920
31 to 60 days 31260H - 27
Over 60 days 60 B LA L - 103
1,473 1,050

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are

denominated in USD.

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

EITAHE -

AEEE S RENFANREEINA

30. HtEARERETER

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

US$'000 US$'000

TER FET

Receipts in advance T KRIE 44 528
Other payables and accruals H At &S FRIE M JEET B 1,605 4,715
Due to related companies (Note) FE A~ RS~ A3k IE (BT E) — 5,092
Due to a director (Note) R —REEHIE (M) = 105
1,649 10,440

Note: The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

31. ADVANCE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

31. BB ATBR

R -

FEREXEEERAA /2018 FFH
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A8 B R
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32.

182

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions
(i)  Additions of property, plant and equipment
during the year of approximately US$25,982,000
(2017: US$Nil) were financed by finance leases.

(i) On 6 September 2018, conditional on share
premium account of the Company being
credited as a result of the Global Offering , the
directors were authorised to capitalise an
amount of US$2,470,138 standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company
by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
247,013,756 shares for allotment and issue to the
then existing Shareholders in proportion to their
respective shareholdings (Note 23(viii)).

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statements of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.
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32. MERERERMETE

(a)

(b)

EXFRERS
() FALE- BERERER

& #925,982,000 % 7T, (2017
FTET)NBBRME
HEREES -

(i) M2018F9H6H @B K
EERER  FARAIKR
D ERESZIREEHE
HRE REEZEHEEAA
A 1R 17 4 B BR &9 BR 58
2,470,138 T E AL - W
AREEEMRIEERE
B R E B #F I e 3%
MBETTZEANALTH
247,013,756 % B% 17 89 A% 7X
(B & 23(viii)) e

METHELEEBENYER

TRALAEBHNRE RS
EXMBENES  EEAS
FIERe#E  MELRDEL
MEBERAREREBEIARK
Aen8RanArsBNGa
ReERERBELSRELDMN

BHRLRENEE-
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. ZEBHERERMT (B
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) MEFTBELERENYHE
financing activities (Continued) (%)
Advance
Advance from non- Finance
from related  controlling lease
companies shareholders  Bank loans payables Total
REEH REFER mMeds
PEEE RREX BITER L3E @zt

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEL TET TEL TEL TEL

At 1 January 2017 R01751 418 14,635 6,480 36,125 15976 73,216
Cash flows, net Benhess 16,090 - 26,031 (2499 39,622
Debts assignment EisEE (30,135) - - - (30,135)
Settlement by allotmentof ~ FREEMRHLE
shares (Note 23(vi)) (Bi5E 23i)) - (6,480) - - (6,480)
Exchange differences EXEE - - 1,535 - 1,535
At 31 December and R017E12A318 R
1 January 2018 018F1A18 590 - 63,691 13,477 77,758
Cash flows, net RenEFE (590) - (23,854) 28,862 4,418
New finance leases MEREHE = = = 25,982 25,982
Exchange differences iRt = - (406) - (406)
At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H - - 39,431 68,321 107,752
33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BAERE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the RBEHRETHNERBHHNER
reporting period but not yet incurred are as follow: EAENT
2018 2017
2018 F 2017 4
US$'000 US$'000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment M - B RREE R
contracted but not provided for BARBEE = 30,600
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34.

184

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018 the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

34.

HEAE

AEBERAEABA

2018412 A31 B » T Al &g E
HEBETENHARRZERESK
BWEREGNR -

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 &

US$'000 US$'000

TER FET

Within one year —F AR 122 116
In the second to fifth yearsinclusive ~ F-FFRF (BIEEEWE) 161 196
283 312

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 year to 4 years, and rentals are
fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent
rentals.

The Group as lessor

At 31 December 2018 the Group had future aggregate
minimum charter hire income receivable under non-
cancellable time charters as follows:

REHENFTEARERE S TH
ARERNOES - HERERIFE
4% MESREHRABE  B1E
BHAEE -

AEEERAEBAA

R2018F 12 A31H » ZEBRET
ARG E R R RFERS UK
ANBZEIT -

2018 2017

2018 £ 2017 £

Us$'000 US$'000

FER FET

Within one year —==ErS) 18,180 24,205
In the second to fifth yearsinclusive ~E-ZFRAF (BEEEME) 10,353 28,681
28,533 52,886
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35.

(@) In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

BBETXS

(@) FRERA WA H AR 5 BT 3
BB IR RERIN
Ko EENFANEAGE T E
TTUATIRS

2018 2017

2018 F 2017 F

US$'000 US$'000

FERx FE

Sales to a related company ) —fE R A PR SHE 65 -

Purchase from a related company KB —[EEE A ARMNEES 65 -
Reimbursement of rental charges [ — B BAEE A Rl f1E

to a related company M2 KA - 94
Reimbursement of staff costs BN

to a related company BTA - 640

Note: Mr. Ding Xiao Li, Mr. Xu Wen Jun and Mr. Ding Yu Zhao, the
directors of the Company have beneficial interests in the
related company.

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of
key management during the year was as follows:

e RATEET Uk - B
TS SET LT Ny
B A -

b) EFERTBEEEHMKER
FRRIFBLAT

2018 2017

2018 2017 4

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

Short-term benefits 52 HitR A 346 306
Retirement benefit Scheme RRBFIET B R

contributions 24 24

370 330
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. T EMBE AT
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are R2018FE 12 831 H ' HE AT
as follows: EN
Attributable

equity interest
Issued and of the Group

Principal place  Place of incorporation/ paidup  asat the date
Name of operation  establishment capital of report Principal activities
B BRAR  ARERES
8 IRERMY  HUBE BRRE  DBECGRE IEED
Directly held:
EREH:
Virtue Glory Holdings Hong Kong The British Virgin Islands US$10,000 100% Investment holding
Limited &R RERAES 10,000% 7T RERR
Indirectly held:
CESSER
Baustella Shipping (Hong Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
Kong) Limited & &E 10,000787¢ chartering
ZHEMT (BE)ERAR A REE
Begstella Shipping (Hongkong) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Not yet commence
Limited 55 Bk 10,0007 7T business
BRENE(BE)ERAT RARRER
Brilliant Star Shipping Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS1 100% Inactive
("Brilliant Star") BE BE BT TEEN
REMBBRAF(RE])
Jastella Shipping (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
Limited 55 55 10,0007 7T chartering
RAENS(BE)ERLA EMERREE
Lotstella Shipping (Hongkong)  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
Limited &E &E 10,0007 chartering
NS (BE)ERAT EMABREE
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Principal place  Place of incorporation/

Name of operation establishment
RauAe
L TREEBE  RUBE

36. TEMBLTE ()

Attributable
equity interest
Issued and of the Group
paidup  asat the date
capital of report Principal activities
BBAR  ARERES
BRkAx  BEEGRE IEED

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BgEg: (8)

Phoenix Shipping (Hong Kong) - Hong Kong Hong Kong
Limited B &
BEM (BR)BRAA

Shun Yuen Group Hong Kong Hong Kong
(Hong Kong) Limited & &5
EREE(BE)ARLT

Xin De Yuan (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong
Shipping Limited &k &R
B2 (BE) BERAT

Xin Yuan Ocean Shipping Hong Kong Hong Kong
(HK) Group Limited BE BE
ERE+ER (BE)RE
ARAT

Bilxin Shipping Group Pte. Singapore Singapore
Ltd. #nsx ipI

Lilstella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore
HIR R

Orcstella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore
#R #AR

HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
10,0007 7T chartering
EHMEEREE

HK$10,000 100% Investment holding

10,0007t RERR
HK$59,000,000 100% Vessel owning and
59,000,000/ 7T chartering

ERARREE

RMB70,000,000 100% Vessel owning and
AR chartering
70,000,000 7T EhREAREE
US$1,000,000 100% Investment holding
1,000,000 7T RERR
US$50,000 100% Vessel owning and
50,000% T chartering
EfEA RAE
US$50,000 100% Vessel owning and
50,000% 7T chartering

ENRAAREE

EREXEEBRAR /2018 FFH 187



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 &% 2018F 12 431 HILF/E

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

37.

188

36. TEMBLTE ()

Attributable
equity interest
Issued and of the Group
Principal place  Place of incorporation/ paidup  asat the date
Name of operation  establishment capital of report Principal activities
ML/ BBAR  ARERES
£ IRERHE  AUBE ARRE  BHEERE TEED
Indirectly held: (Continued)
MEsE: (8)
Poestella Shipping Pte. Ltd. ~ Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100% Vessel owning and
igIlE gk 50,000% 7T chartering
EMABREE
Rostella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100% Vessel owning and
AR EigIlE 50,0003 7T chartering
EMEERAE
Fujian Xinyuanxinlanhai The PRC The PRC RMB9,892,550 100% Sourcing of mechanical
Importand Export Trade ~ HFEARLME FEARLANE (US$1,500,000) equipment and hardware
Company Limited (T+E)) (T+E)) ARE product for the Group's
("Xinlanhai") 9,892,5507C vessels and provision of
(BRERFERELD (1,500,000%7T) administrative services to
E5BRAA) group companies
BEERNEBELOES REERRERRER
BRRR(HES]) ARBEELE]
RAITHR
Note: Xinlanhai is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the MEE - FEE B RN R BRI I NEBERE -

PRC. The registered capital of Xinlanhai is RMB30,000,000 and
RMB9,892,550 has been paid up as at the date of this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any

significant contingent liabilities. (2017: Nil)
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&5 RO RE & AR 3 A R %5 30,000,000
T RAREARLESAMARY

9,892,550 7T ©

37. RAREE

MR2018FE 12 A31H » NEE I E(F

fAIERSHAREE - (2017 F : #)
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